L TH HOLDINGS LIMITED
E R A 7
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(R EBREZEFMBAELTZER R )

T
Hot
e
==

(Stock Code f&17 A5 643)

¥ E B &
Annual Report



Carry

Wealth




CO NTE NTS E %,l% 2 Corporate Profile
=N SE/{N

3 Corporate Information
NGIE- ¢!

5 Information for Shareholders and Investors
BRERKREEEA

6 Financial Highlights
G E

9 Chairman’s Statement
FTERE

12 Management Discussion and Analysis
ERENREDN

21 Corporate Governance Report

ERERARSE

41 Report of the Directors
EEgWmE

57 Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBA RS

64 Consolidated Income Statement
FEalARE

65 Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FerEBARE

66 Consolidated Balance Sheet
meEBEEREX

68 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BRAEEEBHR

70 Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
FeaRenEx

71 Notes to the Financial Statements

RIF ¥R MY o



Corporate Profile £ & f&

2

CARRY WEALTH HOLDINGS LIMITED

manufactures and trades garment products for internationally
renowned brand names and engages in securities investment. The
Group has production facilities in Mainland China.

Headquartered in Hong Kong, Carry Wealth Holdings Limited has
been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited since 2000.

The Chinese name of the Company means “enduring prosperity”.
The Group is committed to maximizing the return of its
shareholders for their ongoing support.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Li Haifeng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wang Ke (Vice President)”

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James*

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

Ms. Zheng Xianzhi

Audit Committee

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

Ms. Zheng Xianzhi

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Wang Ke”

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

Ms. Zheng Xianzhi

Nomination Committee

Mr. Li Haifeng (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

Ms. Zheng Xianzhi

Investment Committee
Mr. Li Haifeng (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Wang Ke”

Company Secretary
Ms. Lau Yee Wa*
Mr. Chiu G Kiu Bernard*

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

* Appointed on 19 March 2018
*  Ceased appointment/Resigned on 1 April 2019
#  Appointed on 1 April 2019
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Principal Bankers
China CITIC Bank International Limited
Standard Chartered Bank

Principal Share Registrar and
Transfer Agent

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HMO08, Bermuda

Branch Share Registrar and Transfer
Agent in Hong Kong

Tricor Abacus Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

Registered Office
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Head Office and Principal Place of
Business in Hong Kong

Suite 2001, 20/F

Shui On Centre

6—-8 Harbour Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2310 8180

Fax: (852) 2310 8797

Website
www.carrywealth.com

E-mail Address
info@carrywealth.com

Stock Code
643

Board Lot Size
10,000 shares
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Information for Shareholders and Investors IR 32 & 12 & & & |

Results Announcement Date
Interim results

21 August 2018 (Tuesday)
Annual results

29 March 2019 (Friday)

Financial Calendar

Deadline for lodging share transfer documents for
entitlement to attend and vote at Annual General Meeting
8 May 2019 (Wednesday)

at 4:30 p.m.

Closure of register of members
9 May 2019 (Thursday) to
15 May 2019 (Wednesday)

Annual General Meeting
15 May 2019 (Wednesday)
at 10:00 a.m.

Shareholder Enquiries

Any matters relating to your shareholding, such as transfer of
shares, change of address, loss of share certificates, should
be addressed to the Branch Share Registrar and Transfer
Agent in Hong Kong, contact details of which are set out as
follows:

Tricor Abacus Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2890 9350

REATMEH

e
“E-N\FNAZT-H(EHD)
EFERE
“E-NF=ZAZTAR(EHHE)

e

U ERHEREAFASIERE LR
Z EXKRHBBEF XS RE
“E-AFRANB(EH=)
THEUE=1+%

FrFKROEFET
“E-hFRANB(EHM) =
“E-NFRATRA(EH=)

BREAFAZ
—E-NFRAT+HRH(EH=)
FFTESIE

BREREH

WMEEFRER BTHRABRNDZEER
BIEROEF - Bt if%‘%ﬂﬁ%‘%i'
MEBEETERNELLRBP DR
MERIT

BEEERHERAA
BEBBFERNER183%
& A L2221

T % (852) 2980 1333
fEH : (852) 2890 9350

Annual Report 2018 F£E & 6



Financial Highlights 81 7% i8 &

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY AFEUBREE
Results 4

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—-HLEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
“B-\Eg —T—+F ZE-RF —T-HF —ZT-NWEF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER TAET TAT TAET TAT

Revenue U 5 328,513 244,590 123,105 120,695 153,176
Loss attributable to VNN s

equity holders of the BAEIGEE

Company (50,615) (29,956) (49,719) (37,983) (14,724)
Assets and liabilities BERER

As at 31 December
R+=-ZA=+-—H
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
“EB-\E —T—+F —E-RF —_T-HF —ZE-NOEF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TAT TAT TAT TAT

Total assets BEE 243,015 276,553 268,305 315,102 357,103
Total liabilities mafk (82,261) (74,109) (40,112) (34,474) (43,007)
Total equity B 160,754 202,444 228,193 280,628 314,096

6 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 2R E R 7
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Financial Highlights &7 #% &

2018 2017 Changes
—®-\E T LF  BEE
HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET
Operating results EEXER
Revenue g 328,513 244,590 34.3%
Gross profit EH 39,649 40,078 -1.1%
Loss attributable ARAEEEEARGER
to equity holders of the Company (50,615) (29,956) 69.0%
Financial position at year end RERXRZHBRR
Properties, plant and equipment EN L 65,697 51,890 26.6%
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHeFEER 71,084 67,456 5.4%
Net current assets MEEEFE 97,732 107,521 -9.1%
Total assets mEE 243,015 276,553 -12.1%
Borrowing BX 5,682 5,952 -4.5%
Total liabilities waE 82,261 74,109 11.0%
Capital and reserves attributable AREIERFEBEARIGZ
to the Company’s equity holders BEARR B 160,754 202,444 -20.6%
Per share information BRER
Basic and diluted loss per share BREARREEEE
(Hong Kong cents) (L) (6.19) (3.66) 69.1%
Capital and reserves attributable FRBARAERFEEA
to the Company’s equity holders B2 BRI
per share (Hong Kong cents) (AL 19.7 24.7 -20.2%
Ratio analysis L&
Profitability BEFKF
Gross profit margin ER= 12.1% 16.4% -4.3%
Net loss margin FEEX -15.4% -12.2% -3.2%
Return on the Company’s ARAEERFBEAE2O®R
equity holders -31.5% -14.8% -16.7%
Liquidity TER R
Current ratio mE L X 2.4 2.6 -7.7%
Gearing ratio BERBELE -40.7% -30.4% -10.3%
Operating efficiency LENE
Inventory turnover period (days) FER®E (BE) 70 67 4.5%
Trade receivable turnover (days) BoREFERE (AZ) 37 52 -28.8%
Trade payable turnover (days) BoRENZERE (AZ) 49 49 0.0%

8 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 1R AR X T



Chairman’s Statement EFE#HRE

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Carry
Wealth Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present the annual report
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Since early 2018, a combination of US tariffs imposed on
various Chinese products and retaliatory trade actions by
different countries has complicated global trade relations.
Chinese and American delegations have subsequently
been involved in numerous negotiations in Beijing and
Washington to end the trade dispute. Meanwhile, US
president Donald Trump has accused China of engaging in
currency intervention to gain competitive advantages. An
agreement has still not been reached on the fundamental
issue of enforcement of a proposed currency deal that would
ensure Beijing lives up to its promise to not depreciate the
Renminbi. Growth momentum in the US remains strong,
nonetheless, as fiscal stimulus continues to increase, but
the forecast for 2019 has been revised down due to ongoing
trade concerns. In addition, growth projections have been
marked down for the euro area and the United Kingdom
as well, following Brexit-related concerns that suppressed
economic activity in early 2018. Among emerging markets
and developing economies, the growth prospects for many
energy exporters have been lifted by higher oil prices, but
growth was revised down for Argentina, Brazil, Iran, and
Turkey, among others, reflecting country-specific factors,
tighter financial conditions, geopolitical tensions, and higher
oil import bills. China and a number of Asian economies are
also projected to experience somewhat weaker growth in
2019 due to trade-related headwinds.
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Chairman’s Statement ¥ &%

In advanced economies, economic activity lost some
momentum in the first half of 2018 after peaking in the
second half of 2017. Outcomes fell short of projections in
the euro area and the United Kingdom; growth in world trade
and industrial production declined. Escalating trade tensions
and the potential shift away from a multilateral, rules-based
trading system are key threats to the global outlook. Since
the “World Economic Outlook April 2018” was issued by the
International Monetary Fund (IMF), protectionist rhetoric has
increasingly turned into action, with the US imposing tariffs
on a variety of imports, including on US$200 billion worth
of imports from China, while other countries will undertake
or promise to take retaliatory and protective measures. An
intensification of trade tensions, and the associated rise
in policy uncertainty, could dent business and financial
market sentiment, trigger financial market volatility, and
slow investment and trade. Higher trade barriers would
disrupt global supply chains and slow the spread of new
technologies, ultimately lowering global productivity and
welfare. More import restrictions would also make tradable
consumer goods less affordable, harming low-income
households disproportionately.

Despite the trade tensions and policy uncertainty, our
sales team’s tremendous and fruitful efforts have enabled
the Group’s garment manufacturing and trading segment
to achieve an increase in revenue from the US market of
31.6% to HK$183.8 million for the year, with total revenue
amounting to HK$329.5 million, representing an exceptional
year-on-year increase of 43.7% from HK$229.3 million
in 2017. Segment profit totalled HK$1.1 million versus a
segment profit of HK$0.6 million.

In respect of the securities investment segment, the
resources that were collected last year will be used for
our business diversifications, with the principal goal of
generating sustainable long-term returns.

Our openness to explore opportunities has enabled us to
diversify from our traditional business, and we are actively
exploring and investing in new businesses that show good
development potential.

/I O Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 1R AR X T
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Chairman’s Statement ¥ &%

GOING FORWARD

Global growth for 2018 to 2019 is projected to remain
steady at a level similar to 2017, but the pace of growth will
be less vigorous than projected in April 2018, as well as less
balanced. Downside risks to global growth have risen in the
past six months and the potential for upside surprises has
receded. Global growth is projected at 3.7% for both 2018
and 2019, which is 0.2 percentage point lower than was
forecasted in April 2018 for the two years. The Consumer
Price Index (CPI) has maintained above-trend growth in
recent months in the US, while industrial production has
decelerated for other countries.

We will therefore continue to focus on tapping the US
and European markets by leveraging our competitive
advantages, as well as by bolstering our garment
manufacturing business. At the same time, as health issues
have become a hot topic in modern life, we will continue
to actively explore opportunities in the medical sector,
and seek opportunities for diversification into different
regions. Regarding the securities investment segment, we
will continue to monitor market conditions and replenish
our portfolio when deemed appropriate. Given our
strong financial health, dedicated staff and experienced
management team, we trust that our pursuit of sustainable
long-term development will be realised in the future.

APPRECIATION

At this time, | would like to extend my sincerest appreciation
to my fellow directors and the entire Carry Wealth workforce
for their commitment, diligence and contributions to the
Group during the past year. | wish to also express my
gratitude to all of our customers, suppliers, business
partners and shareholders for their unwavering support.

Li Haifeng
Chairman
29 March 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 2 & &1 &% & 2 #7

RESULTS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s revenue
amounted to HK$328.5 million (2017: HK$244.6 million) and
gross profit was HK$39.6 million (2017: HK$40.1 million).
Loss attributable to equity holders was HK$50.6 million
(2017: HK$30.0 million). The basic and diluted loss per share
were both at 6.19 HK cents (2017: both 3.66 HK cents).

Despite domestic political uncertainty and a rapidly
transforming global economic landscape, the US economy
remained robust during the year under review. The
unemployment rate continued to hover at a 50-year low and
consumer confidence remained strong. In the Eurozone, the
region’s economy ended 2018 with a weaker purchasing
managers’ index. Weak demand was seen and employment
growth fell to a two-year low. Despite these divergent
market conditions, thanks to the efforts of our sale teams,
the Group’s revenue from the garment manufacturing and
trading business increased by 43.7% to HK$329.5 million
(2017: HK$229.3 million) while the gross profit margin of
the business increased to 12.3% (2017: 10.8%), with gross
profit amounting to HK$40.6 million (2017: HK$24.8 million).

The global stock market was highly volatile during the year
under review. Investor sentiment was affected by a number
of factors, including the unresolved Sino-US trade war,
Brexit, political fragmentation in Germany, social instability
in France and geopolitical tensions in the Middle East. As a
result, the Hang Seng Index (“HSI”) contracted by 13.6%,
closing at 25,845 points in 2018 (2017: 29,919 points). For
the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s securities
investment business recorded negative revenue and gross
loss of HK$1.0 million (2017: positive revenue and gross
profit of HK$15.3 million).

/I 2 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 1R AR X T
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 2 8 51 &8 & 2 #7

During the year under review, the ratio of selling expenses
to revenue from garment manufacturing and trading was
slightly dropped to 1.9% (2017: 2.0%) and administrative
expenses amounted to HK$52.3 million (2017: HK$42.3
million). The Group shared an operating loss of HK$26.1
million (2017: HK$5.7 million) from its investment in an
associate and its carrying value as at 31 December 2018
was HK$nil (31 December 2017: HK$26.1 million). The
aforementioned associate engages in security and crisis
management services. As announced on 1 November
2018, the subsidiary of the associate failed to secure a
three-year tender service contract from a major customer
whose turnover accounted for 69.2% of the associate’s
consolidated revenue for the year ended 31 December
2018. As at 31 December 2018, the management of the
associate failed to identify additional income source to
compensate for the revenue loss in the coming years
and initiated redundancy plan. In view of the associate’s
incomplete books and record, negative net asset value of
HK$17.2 million as at 31 December 2018 (31 December
2017: positive net asset value of HK$48.8 million), the
expected financial difficulties owing to the loss of the major
customer as well as the diminishing business prospects,
an impairment loss of HK$5.4 million was provided by the
Group to write down the loans to the associate and related
interest receivable as at 31 December 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 2 B 57 i & 2 47

Segmental Analysis T EETHT

a) MKHERESZDES

a) Garment manufacturing and trading segment

During the year under review, the Group’s factory in
Heshan, Mainland China accounted for most of the
garment production.

During the year under review, US economy performed
extremely well, with GDP rising 3.4% year-on-year in
the third quarter of 2018. Job growth continued at
the 200,000 per month level, considerably higher than
most estimates of the long-term growth potential of the
labour force. Inflation was kept under control. Seizing
the business opportunities arising from the strong US
economy, revenue from US customers increased by
31.6% to HK$183.8 million (2017: HK$139.7 million),
accounting for 55.8% (2017: 60.9%) of the segment
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018.

In the Eurozone, data reflected the regions’ economic
growth, which was the softest in four years. The growing
concerns about Brexit negotiations and earnings
momentum had impacted the markets. In view of
these challenging market conditions, the Group had
adjusted its strategies to cater for customers’ needs
and expectations. As a result, revenue from European
customers increased by HK$38.5 million to HK$102.5
million (2017: HK$64.0 million), thus accounting for
31.1% (2017: 27.9%) of the segmental revenue.

All in all, revenue from the garment manufacturing and
trading segment increased by 43.7% to HK$329.5
million (2017: HK$229.3 million), and the segment profit
amounted to HK$1.1 million (2017: HK$0.6 million).
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b) Securities investment segment

The HSI rose to a historical high in January 2018,
but was followed by significant volatility. There were
a number of factors that influenced the stock market
valuations. The protectionist policies being pursued
by US president Donald Trump had cast a shadow
over global trade and affected the global economy
and stock market performance. Moreover, investors’
concerns about slowing economic growth and earnings
momentum in Mainland China had also contributed to
market volatility. As a result, HSI had fallen by 13.6%
when compared with 2017, closing at 25,845 points in
2018 (2017: 29,919 points). Investor sentiment had also
weakened and risk-off sentiment had kicked in. For the
year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s securities
investment business recorded a fair value loss of HK$1.2
million (2017: gain of HK$15.0 million) and a segment
loss of HK$8.0 million (2017: profit of HK$6.8 million).

Owing to the uncertain and volatile stock market, and
in the best interest of the Group, the Group had elected
to adopt a more conservative strategy in conducting
its securities investment business. As at 31 December
2018, the Group’s financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss amounted to HK$2.3 million (31 December
2017: HK$3.5 million), which comprised of one (31
December 2017: one) Hong Kong listed corporation that
had been held since the last financial year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Adopting a conservative financial management approach,
the Group continues to maintain a healthy financial position.
As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents was HK$71.1 million (31 December 2017:
HK$67.5 million). Working capital represented by net current
assets amounted to HK$97.7 million (31 December 2017:
HK$107.5 million) of which HK$2.3 million (31 December
2017: HK$3.5 million) were a Hong Kong listed equity stock.
The Group’s current ratio was 2.4 (31 December 2017: 2.6).
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Bank borrowings comprised term loans of HK$5.7 million
(31 December 2017: HK$6.0 million) which were repayable
within one year. The bank loans were denominated in
Renminbi. As at 31 December 2018, the gearing ratio of the
Group, which is calculated as net debt (total borrowings less
cash and cash equivalents) divided by capital and reserves
attributable to the Company’s equity holders, was -40.7%
(31 December 2017: -30.4%).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

For the year under review, the Group incurred a total capital
expenditure of HK$8.4 million (2017: HK$0.6 million), which
was mainly for additions to leasehold improvements, a motor
vehicle and a vessel.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s sales are principally transacted in US dollars.
With a factory in Mainland China and offices in Hong Kong
and Mainland China, operating expenses of the Group are
primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi
with some expenses in US dollars. The Group is mainly
exposed to US dollar exchange risk arising from sales
transactions involving its garments. As the Hong Kong dollar
is pegged to the US dollar, exposure of the Group to foreign
exchange risk is minimal.

The Group will closely monitor fluctuation of US dollar
exchange rates and, if necessary, will enter into forward
exchange contracts to reduce currency exchange fluctuation
risks.

CREDIT POLICY

Consistent with prevailing industry practice, the Group’s
business was transacted on an open account basis with
its long-standing customers during the year under review.
The credit ratings of customers are constantly reviewed and
their respective credit limits will be adjusted, as and when
necessary.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s land use rights of
HK$5.4 million (2017: HK$5.8 million) and buildings of HK$
28.4 million (2017: HK$23.4 million) in Heshan, Mainland
China were pledged as security for the Group’s bank
borrowings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group had no
contingent liabilities.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The Group provides a harmonious and professional
working environment to employees as their commitment
and expertise are critical to the long-term success of its
business. It also offers employees rewarding careers and
provides them with a variety of training programmes aimed
at enhancing their professionalism. The Group remunerates
employees according to prevailing market practices,
individual experience and performance. To attract and
retain high-calibre employees, it also offers discretionary
bonuses and share options based on the performance of the
individual as well as the Group.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has a total of 879 (31
December 2017: 881) full-time employees in Mainland China
and Hong Kong.

EEHKR

R—ZE-NEFE+-_A=+—B K&
B AR B KBERS LT 2 L5 A
FEN+EAET (22—t - mENT
EAT)MEF-_FN\EOT+EST (=
T—+tF:ZFZEN+EEL) BEER
EREBIRITERIER-

HABE

RZEBE—NEFER_ZT—+F+ A
= t—H AEEVESREE-

A T &R R 7 BN B SR

AEBERRERFEMERERZ THER
BOEXB RN EEREE 21BW
BATHREEEXE AEEETE
BRABEZEEMEHEEMBEER
e Z T RF IR - A KB & B %
‘A TDIRIBIRITHISIE G MR E AL
BREXEMET ARIIMBERER
BE AEETZENEE 2KRRER
SEZEER TR RERE-

RZE-NFE+-_A=1+—H K&E
ERBEREREEXEMASTIZ(ZF
—tF+-A=+—H:881%)2BIE

B o
=

Annual Report 2018 FE RS /I 7



Management Discussion and Analysis & ¥ /8 57 7 &

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed
to maintaining the highest environmental and social
standards to ensure sustainable development of its
business. The Board has overall responsibility for the
Group’s environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
strategy. The Board is responsible for ensuring that there
are appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems in place to mitigate ESG-related risks and
to meet stakeholders’ needs and expectations. The Group’s
ESG management team is assigned key responsibilities,
including monitoring the implementation of ESG strategic
plans, alerting the Board of any potential ESG-related risks,
reporting to the Board about the effectiveness of the ESG
system and reviewing stakeholders’ needs and expectations.

The Group operates two business segments: garment
manufacturing and trading, and securities investment. The
Group’s factory in Heshan, Guangdong Province, Mainland
China accounted for most of the garment manufacturing and
trading business with 863 employees as at 31 December
2018. The Hong Kong office, which had 16 employees
as at 31 December 2018, was mainly responsible for the
securities investment business and for providing supporting
services for the Group. The two business segments as well
as the Hong Kong office had complied with all relevant
laws and regulations in relation to environmental and social
aspects of their business for the year ended 31 December
2018. The Group understands that a better future for society
depends on everyone’s participation and contribution.
It encourages employees, customers, suppliers and
stakeholders to participate in environmental protection and
social activities that can benefit the community as a whole.

The Group maintains strong relations with its employees,
and has continued to increase co-operation with suppliers.
The Group provides high-quality products and services
to customers, thereby helping ensure the sustainable
development of its business.
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Having taken into consideration stakeholders’ major
concerns and in view of the materiality of the garment
manufacturing and trading business, the Group had
decided to include the said business, which is conducted
at its Heshan factory, in its ESG report for the year ended
31 December 2018. The factory is required to undergo a
stringent environmental audit and is continuously monitored
by local government departments. An annual inspection
on the Heshan manufacturing plant is performed by
Heshan Environmental Protection Bureau. In the reporting
year, the Heshan manufacturing plant complied with all
relevant environmental laws and regulations. All Heshan
factory employees had been recruited under employment
agreements with terms in compliance with relevant laws and
regulations. Furthermore, the factory had complied with all
relevant occupational health and safety laws and regulations
imposed by Mainland China authorities. With a safe working
environment and regular occupational safety training
provided for all employees, there were no work-related
fatalities at the production facilities for the year ended 31
December 2018. A full 2018 ESG report is being prepared
with reference to Appendix 27 of the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide pertaining to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing
Rules”), and will be published on the Company’s and the
Stock Exchange’s websites within three months after the
publication of the 2018 annual report.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the operating environment will likely remain
challenging in 2019. Greater divergence in global growth
is anticipated due to the Sino-US trade war, geopolitical
disruptions and normalisation of monetary policies by the US
and Eurozone.

In the US, the Federal Reserve is likely to continue on its
path of regular gradual rate hikes. Its impact on the US
economy and stock market cannot be easily forecasted.
With trade talks between the US and Mainland China
commencing on January 2019, both parties are taking steps
towards addressing trade tensions. However, US concerns
span many areas beyond trade, and include intellectual
property protection and national security. As discussions will
take time, it is expected that the settlement agreement is
unlikely to be reached in the near term.
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As for the Eurozone, the European Central Bank (‘ECB”)
has, since the end of 2018, begun winding down its
quantitative easing programme. Economic growth and
consumer sentiment may therefore be affected. In addition,
there is still no sign of a confirmed successor to the existing
ECB president who will conclude his term at the start of
November 2019. Both issues will introduce uncertainty to
the region and thus affect economic development in 2019.

With the garment manufacturing and trading business set
to face uncertainty in these two major markets, the Group
will continue to streamline operations while at the same time
seek to quickly develop production sites in other countries,
so as to insulate the Group from adversities should trade
frictions persist.

As for the Hong Kong stock market, it is expected to
continue experiencing volatility due to a number of
uncertainties and risks. The Federal Reserve will continue
with its rate hikes. The US dollar will continue strengthening,
which may trigger further currency outflows from the Hong
Kong bourse. Also, the outcome of Sino-US trade talks,
strained Sino-Canadian relations resulting from the Huawei
incident, and worries about Mainland China’s economic
growth will all weigh on the stock market. In the face of
such risks and certainties, the Group will take a cautious
approach with regard to its securities investment business.

Despite the challenging expected in 2019, the Group will
continue to maintain its niches in production and scale of
operations, as well as explore opportunities to diversify so as
to maximise returns for its shareholders.
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is
committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of all shareholders
of the Company and to enhance corporate value. The
Company continuously reviews and improves the corporate
governance practices and standards of the Group to ensure
that business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper manner.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is of the view that the Company has complied
with all the code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the year ended
31 December 2018, except for certain deviations as
explained in this report.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition
The Board is led by the Chairman and currently comprises
two executive directors, one non-executive director and
three independent non-executive directors as follows:
Executive Directors
Mr. Li Haifeng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Ke (Vice President)

(Appointed on 19 March 2018)

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James
(Ceased appointment on 1 April 209)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
Ms. Zheng Xianzhi
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The Board possesses a balance of skill and experience
which is appropriate for the requirements of the business of
the Group. A balanced composition of executive and non-
executive directors also generates a strong independent
element on the Board, which can exercise independent
judgement effectively and make decision objectively for the
best interests of the Company.

Save for those as disclosed in the section headed
“Directors’ Biographical Details” as set out on pages 44 to
48 of this Annual Report, there is no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationship) among members of the Board.

During the year, four Board meetings were held to approve
annual and interim results, review the business operations,
risk management and internal control systems. The
attendance records of directors are set out on page 32 of
this Annual Report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Li
Haifeng has assumed both the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company since 1 April 2017. The
Board is of the view that the balance of power and authority
is ensured by its operations which comprises experienced
and high caliber individuals with a highly independent
element. The Board believes that this structure is conducive
to strong and consistent leadership, enabling the Company
to execute business strategies and decisions efficiently.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors representing one-
third of the Board with at least one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. All Independent
Non-executive Directors have confirmed their independence
and the Company considers that they are independent in
accordance with the independent guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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Appointments and Re-election of Directors

The Board is empowered under the Company’s Bye-
laws to appoint any person as a director either to fill a
casual vacancy on or as an additional member of the
Board. The selection criteria are mainly based on the
professional qualification and experience of the candidate
and the recommendations of the Nomination Committee.
All directors are engaged on service contracts for a term of
three years except for Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James whose
service contract is a term for two years. A newly appointed
director must retire and be re-elected at the first general
meeting after his/her appointment.

At each annual general meeting of the Company, one-
third of the directors (including non-executive director and
independent non-executive directors) for the time being (or,
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation. Every director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The
directors to retire every year will be those who have been the
longest in office since their last re-election or appointment.
As such, no director has a term of appointment longer than
three years. A retiring director shall be eligible for re-election.
During the year, Mr. Wang Ke was appointed as an executive
director of the Company.

Board and Management

To enable all directors to make informed decisions in
the Board meetings and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities, appropriate, complete and reliable
information prepared by the management are provided
in a timely manner. All directors are kept informed on a
timely basis of major changes that may affect the Group’s
business, including relevant rules and regulations. To
reinforce independence, the Board and each director
can have separate and independent access to the
management of the Company if additional information is
required. To further assist the directors to discharge their
duties to the Company, the Board has also established a
written procedure to enable directors to seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expenses.
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In order to have a clear principle in relation to the matters
specifically reserved to the Board for decisions, functions
between the Board and the management are formalized.
The Board has established a written guideline determining
which issues require a decision of the Board and those
delegated to the management. Matters reserved to the
Board for decision include the making of significant financial
and legal commitments, mergers and acquisitions, material
asset acquisitions or disposals, the change of share capital,
the approval of financial reporting, budgeting, management
succession and representation to shareholders. The
management is responsible for the day-to-day running of
the Group. The management is required to submit reports
on the operations to the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board on the development of
major projects or business proposals and their respective
implementation. The Board is of the view that such division
of responsibilities can enhance the corporate governance of
the Company.

The Board considers that corporate governance should be
the collective responsibility of Directors and delegated the
corporate governance duties to the Audit Committee which
include:

e to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management of the Company;

e to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements;

e 1o develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

e to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To develop and refresh the knowledge and skills, all directors
have participated in continuous professional development
and provided the Company their training records for the year
ended 31 December 2018 which are summarized as follows:

Directors EE

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Li Haifeng FEMEEE
Mr. Wang Ke FRIESE
Non-Executive Director HHITEE

Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James THAEE
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYHBITEE
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu 519797 vk
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi RIRTE T HE

Ms. Zheng Xianzhi BBt

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors of
the Company, all directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions during the year.

EFEZHETEER

AERUVENEME TR 28BES
EREFEFTEHRR I AADIRHERK
EHE_FT - \F+_A=1+—BLF
Bz ek BT

Read materials and/or
attended seminars on
responsibility of directors
and other relevant topics
HEARESHER
HibHRAEENER
HEBEER HHtE

NN

ARBERMH—EAREFTETESFR
HZIRTR AREFRENER LT
MRS PrEl 2 BT AEFETT
EHRXZHWIEETR ([FESTR]) - &
AARRZ2BESFLBEEENRR 2
BEZTYOER RERFARACHER
EFARARPRERESTETESLRRS
ZIRTRIRSZRERE-
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Details of the directors’ interests in the shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2018 are set out on pages 50
to 51 of this Annual Report.

The Board has also established a written guideline on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code for employees of
the Company or director or employee of the Company’s
subsidiaries or holding company who are likely to possess
inside information in relation to the Group or securities of the
Company. No incident of non-compliance was noted by the
Company in 2018.

Directors’ Liability Insurance

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged by the
Company in respect of legal action against its directors and
officers of the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Board set up the Audit Committee in 2000 with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
its authority and duties. The terms of reference of Audit
Committee are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The principal duties of the Audit
Committee include reviewing the Group’s financial reporting,
the external auditor’s independence, risk management,
internal controls and corporate governance issues and
making recommendations to the Board.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three members,
namely Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Committee Chairman), Mr. Zhang
Zhenyi and Ms. Zheng Xianzhi, all Audit Committee members
are independent non-executive directors.
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During the year, the Audit Committee held four meetings
and the attendance records of members are set out on page
32 of this Annual Report. The major work performed by the
Audit Committee during the year included, amongst other
things, the following:

making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment or reappointment of the external auditors
and approved their terms of engagement;

reviewing the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with the applicable standards;

reviewing the change in accounting standards and
assessment of potential impacts on the Group’s financial
statements;

reviewing the interim and annual financial statements and
the related results announcements;

discussing the risk management and internal control
systems with management including the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions;

overseeing and monitoring the operation of Risk
Management and Steering Committee such as reviewing
the quarterly and annual report or any ad hoc report;

reviewing the revised terms of reference of Risk
Management and Steering Committee;

reviewing the revised terms of reference of the Audit
Committee;

reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and made recommendations to
the Board;

reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code.

RERN BREESERITMASH K
BrHELRENKEEREEIH -
RER BZEZESRITNEEI(E(H
REF)MAT:

REERBEIBREMANESS
oz TEHEBRGRR:

RERGRERTEBREZARIE:

EHEFER 2 2F)  ARFEHA
SEYBHRERZBELE

EHTHREFRHBRE  ANIEH
ES - WNTE

HEREERNRAREENMADEE
A BRAKBES  NEEX
KBERBETHCER BTE
FER & AR B TIRIIRERE A
BERERHM:

EERERAREEEEZRES
EIF BREHFENFERS ST
(EESFEUL:0k= ==

EHERREEEERBERERIZ
Eﬂ%ﬁ%&l ;

EHESLZE SRR cBERE:

R A RNFI 2 EEERHR N ER -
YREBFZROESR

RN
>R°

SIEEERT

U oR

2/

Annual Report 2018 FE &



Remuneration Committee

The Board set up the Remuneration Committee in 2005 with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its
authority and duties. The terms of reference of Remuneration
Committee are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The principal duties of the
Remuneration Committee include making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure for
directors and senior management, reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of all directors and senior management with
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time and ensuring that no Director or
any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises four
members, namely Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Committee Chairman),
Mr. Wang Ke, Mr. Zhang Zhenyi and Ms. Zheng Xianzhi.
Except for Mr. Wang Ke who is an executive director, all
Remuneration Committee members are independent non-
executive directors.

During the year, one meeting was held by the Remuneration
Committee to review the revised terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee, it also considered and made
recommendation to the board the remuneration package of
Mr. Wang Ke. The attendance records of members are set
out on page 32 of this Annual Report.

The remuneration of each of the directors was determined
in accordance with the remuneration policy. The main
principles of remuneration policy of the Company are:

e to retain and motivate executive directors and senior
management by linking their compensation with
performance as measured against corporate objectives;

e to align executive directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration with shareholders’ interests;

e to ensure that no director or senior management or any

of his/her associate is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.
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When fixing the remuneration packages of executive
directors, considerations have been given to the
qualifications and experience of the executive directors,
their duties and responsibilities with and contributions to
the Group, the level of directors’ remuneration of other
comparable listed companies in Hong Kong, the Group’s
performance and the prevailing market condition. The
principal elements of the remuneration packages of
executive directors of the Company include salary, director’s
fee, double pay, discretionary bonus and share options.

Details of the remuneration of each director, on a named
basis, are disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements
on pages 115 to 117 of this Annual Report. Reimbursement
is provided for out-of-pocket expenses incurred (including
traveling and hotel expenses) in connection with the
performance of directors’ duties.

Nomination Committee

The Board set up the Nomination Committee in 2012
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with its authority and duties. The terms of reference of
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The principal duties of
the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy, formulating,
reviewing and implementing the nomination policy, selection
criteria and nomination procedures for identification,
selection and nomination for the director for the Board’'s
approval and making recommendations to the Board on
appointment or re-appointment of directors.

The Nomination Committee currently comprises four
members, namely Mr. Li Haifeng (Committee Chairman),
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu, Mr. Zhang Zhenyi and Ms. Zheng Xianzyi.
Except for Mr. Li Haifeng who is an executive director, all
Nomination Committee members are independent non-
executive directors.
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During the year, one meeting was held by the Nomination
Committee to review the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board and to review the revised terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee and the revised
Nomination Policy. Apart from that, the Nomination
Committee also considered and made recommendations
to the Board for the appointment of Mr. Wang Ke as an
executive director, vice president and a member of each of
the Remuneration Committee and Investment Committee of
the Company. The attendance records of members are set
out on page 32 of this Annual Report.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity
has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will
be based on meritocracy and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board.

The Board has also adopted a nomination policy which
sets out the selection criteria and nomination procedures
to identify, select and recommend candidates for directors.
When evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships,
the Board will consider criteria include the board diversity
policy, qualifications, character and integrity and such other
perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.
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Investment Committee

The Board set up the Investment Committee in 2014 with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
its authority and duties. The primary role of the Investment
Committee include reviewing and approving the investment
policy and monitoring the securities investment business as
it deems proper to meet the latest development of the Group
or changes in the securities market.

The Investment Committee currently comprises of two
executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Li Haifeng
(Committee Chairman) and Mr. Wang Ke.

During the year, one meeting was held by the Investment
Committee and the attendance records of members are
set out on page 32 of this Annual Report. The major work
performed by the Investment Committee during the year
included, amongst other things, the following;

e reviewing the investment policy including objectives and
strategy that direct investment activities;

e overseeing investment activities of the Group and
controlling the associated risk levels to assure adherence
to the investment policy;

e monitoring the performance of the investment portfolio
and considered the re-appointment of the external
investment professionals;

* reviewing the revised terms of reference of Investment
Committee.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance of individual Board member in Board
meetings, Board Committees meetings and general meeting
for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out in the table
below:

EEREEEHEZH TR

BE_ZT—N\F+_A=+—H1HF
B FEpEEeRENESEe EEL8
GEBRRARE 2 HELHFIHIN TR

No. of meetings attended/No. of meetings held

HE/BOEHRRY
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Investment
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

A ENZEEE

Executive Directors
HiTEE
Mr. Li Haifeng 4/4 N/A
FERLE TEA
Mr. Wang Ke

(Appointed on 19 March 2018)
EREE 4/4 N/A

(R=ZF-N\E=F+NAEZ() R
Non-Executive Director
FHTEE
Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James 4/4 N/A
FHBREE TERA
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUFHTEE
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu 4/4 4/4
B2 &
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi 4/4 4/4
RIRE £ E
Ms. Zheng Xianzhi 3/4 3/4
BEEL L

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held
meetings with non-executive directors without the presence
of executive directors during the year.
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION AND
REPORTING OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company acknowledge their
responsibility for preparing the financial statements of
the Group in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The directors will select
suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently,
make judgements and estimates that are prudent, fair and
reasonable and prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis. The Board aims to present a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and
prospects in presenting annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules as well as the information
required to be disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

The statement of the auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements of the
Group is set out on pages 57 to 63 of this Annual Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks that the Group is willing
to take in achieving its strategic objectives, and has the
ultimate responsibility to maintain a sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems for the
Group and review their effectiveness so as to safeguard the
shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets and ensure
strict compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations.
The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems, ensuring strict compliance with relevant rules and
regulations as well and reporting to the Board.
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In line with last year, the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems are based on the Internal Control
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of Treadway Commission in the
US in 2013 (2013 COSO Framework”) and Internal Control
and Risk Management — A Basic Framework issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants which
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Risk Management and Steering
Committee (RMSC), with management from different
business units, has assisted the Board and Audit Committee
in discharging their duties in risk management and internal
control functions by drafting an annual internal audit plan,
ensuring a smooth audit checking on the Group business
operations according to the audit plans designed and
reporting to the Board and/or Audit Committee any potential
risks facing the Group in a timely manner.

The Group understands that risk management and internal
control systems are not merely about policies and manuals,
but about people and the actions they take at every level
of the Group. To support all employees in ever — changing
markets, regular training is provided to strengthen their
awareness of risk and capability to manage risks. During
the year, the Board together with the Audit Committee,
reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions,
and were satisfied with the results of the review.

All in all, the Board continues to enhance and oversee the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems with
the support of the Audit Committee and RMSC. Below are
the review process and results regarding the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended
31 December 2018.
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

RMSC designed, implemented and monitored the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems by
considering the five integrated components of 2013 COSO
Framework, namely, control environment, risk assessment,
control activities, information and communication and
monitoring activities.

During the risk assessment process, RMSC identified the
significant risks facing the Group. A risk matrix report was
prepared which prioritised risks according to the likelihood of
their occurrence and the significance of their impact on the
business of the Group.

Following the review and endorsement of the risk matrix
report by the Audit Committee and the Board, RMSC
developed an annual internal audit plan to evaluate the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. RMSC investigated and assessed what
internal control procedures were to be executed to ensure
the identified significant risks were managed within the
acceptable level. These internal control procedures covered
material controls designed to provide reasonable assurance
as to the achievement of the Group’s objectives including
financial, operational and compliance controls. A monthly
Independent internal audit was performed by RMSC
members to test and evaluate whether the selected internal
controls were effective. During the year, RMSC members
had performed internal audit on the Group’s business
cycles including listing rules compliance, revenue, purchase,
information management, human resources, payroll as well
as cash payment.

In addition, each existing business segment was required
to perform assessment on the effectiveness of its risk
management and internal control systems on an annual
basis. The assessment questionnaire sets out key factors
in each of the five integrated components of 2013 COSO
Framework.
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With the assessment questionnaires from each business
segment, monthly, quarterly and annual reports from RMSC,
the Audit Committee closely monitored the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
and reported to the Board on an ongoing basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, both the Audit
Committee and the Board were not aware of any material
internal control defects and were satisfied that the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group
have been effective and adequate. Regarding the qualified
opinion issued by the Company’s Auditor for the investment
in an associate, it revealed that there are internal control
weaknesses in the associate’s systems. The Company
would like to supplement that the Company has no effective
control over the associate. RMSC members had put their
best endeavours to assist the management of the associate
to improve its internal control systems and asking the board
of the associate to engage professionals to conduct a
review of the internal control systems and procedures and
to make recommendations accordingly. Except the qualified
opinion for the investment in an associate, there is no other
significant areas of concerns that might affect shareholders
were identified.

Procedures and Internal Controls for the Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company formulated the inside information policy as
a guideline to handle and disseminate inside information
in order to ensure the Group is in compliance with the
regulatory requirements. The inside information policy
contains a strict prohibition on unauthorised use of inside
information and sets out, inter alia, establishment of the
inside information identification, reporting and disclosure
protocol and procedures. For the year ended 31 December
2018, inside information was disseminated in accordance
with the inside information policy and the applicable laws
and regulations.

8 6 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 1R AR X T

SEREBH BTGNS AREE
BEREEARNSE FERERFE
%% BREAREIERAEEEAR
EBRAREDRRR AR LS
MEBGER-

BE_FT—N\F+=A=+—HLF
B BEREEEhEETSI TMNBMEM
EANEBELRE WEAREE 2R
BEEMANNEZERGRERNBEEZH A
BARNRZEAMM —HBEELE R’
BFBRRMNREER HBETZHED
XV ERGTEANIPEIZFE A QA2
b 48 7T AN N B T AR Bt (b SN0 R U
fleEREEBELZESXNEERNH
B EI1EE M g e
A WERZBECECEETGIESR
BEATEETERBEZZARER
Wi IREEFE R T — BB EDE
ZIREMRBERIIN WIREIREM A
EYERENEEMETEE-

BRERETARHEZEFRABEE

ARABEFIERNBEEEBRIEARERE K
BMABEEZER UMERAEERF
AEEREF AR EERRBIERKEE
IEREREFRREHEE  LUERET (H
FEE)XREANBHEESER RERE
EmmkiEF-BHE_Z—N\F+=A
Z+—BLFE ABEENREAE
SEEB RN ERARREERER-



I

Corporate Governance Report 1t 2% &8 3R &

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

PricewaterhouseCoopers is the external auditor of the
Company. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the
external auditor received the following remuneration for audit
and non-audit services provided to the Group:

ZEET N &

REOBKBEIAMEBMAARRAZ
SRR -BE_T—-NF+ A
=+ HLEFE INELEEMERAAR
SEREH 2T LIFFEARGKEUT S
e

HK$’000

FAETT

Audit services BT R 1,532
Non-audit services IEEET RS

Agreed upon procedures on interim reporting MPBHRE O EERERF 138

Taxation services 154 7% AR 75 117

1,787

The Audit Committee received written confirmation from
the external auditor on its independence and objectivity
as required by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Ms. Lau Yee Wa (“Ms. Lau”) of
Tricor Services Limited, an external service provider, as the
Company’s company secretary since 5 January 2018. Her
primary contact person at the Company is Mr. Chiu G Kiu
Bernard (“Mr. Chiu”), Deputy Chief Financial Officer of the
Company.

Ms. Lau has tendered her resignations as the Company’s
company secretary and Mr. Chiu has taken up the position
with effect from 1 April 2019.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
company secretary on corporate governance and board
practices and matters.

According to CG Code’s code provision F.1.2, the
appointment of the company secretary should be dealt with
by a physical board meeting rather than a written resolution.
The appointment of Ms. Lau as the company secretary
was dealt with by a written resolution in January 2018. The
Board considers that, prior to the execution of the written
resolution to appoint the current company secretary, all
Directors were individually consulted on the matter without
any dissenting opinion and there was no need to approve
the matter by a physical board meeting instead of a written
resolution.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

In order to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders,
shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general
meeting of the Company at which the Chairman of the Board
and the chairmen of the Board committees are pleased to
answer questions related to the Group’s business.

To promote effective communication, the Company has
adopted a shareholders communication policy which aims
at ensuring the shareholders of the Company are provided
with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company, in order to
enable shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and to allow shareholders to engage actively with
the Company. The Company also maintains a corporate
website at www.carrywealth.com in order to disseminate
information on a timely basis and the published information
will be maintained at the above website for at least five
years.

To maintain a balance between meeting expectations of
the shareholders of the Company and prudent capital
management, the Company has also adopted a divided
policy which sets out the basic principles and considerations
factors in determining the distribution of the dividends by the
Board. Under the dividend policy, the Company may declare
and distribute dividends to the shareholders, provided
that the Group records a profit and that the declaration
and distribution of dividend does not affect the Group’s
normal operations, the distribution and payment of dividend
shall be subject to the requirements under the Bye-laws
of the Company, the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended) and all applicable laws and regulations. In
proposing distribution of dividends, the Board will consider
the factors include the actual and expected financial
performance of the Group, general economic conditions and
other internal or external factors that may have an impact
on the business or financial performance and position
of the Group and any other factors that the Board deem
appropriate.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders to Convene a Special General Meeting
and Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, shareholders’
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company,
can by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company to convene a special general
meeting for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. In compliance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules, any annual general
meeting, and general meeting at which the passing of a
special resolution is to be considered shall be called by at
least 20 clear business days’ notice, whilst others may be
called by at least 10 clear business days’ notice.

To further enhance the minority shareholders’ right, all
resolutions at any general meeting are decided on poll and
such practice has been adopted since 2005. The chairman
of any general meetings ensures that the shareholders are
informed of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll by
way of making the explanation at the commencement of the
general meetings. The chairman of general meetings also
ensures full compliance with the requirements about voting
by poll contained in the Listing Rules and the Bye-laws of
the Company.
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Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a
Director

The procedures for a shareholder to propose a person for
election as a Director can be found on the website of the
Company. Shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of all shareholders having
at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the general
meeting or who are no less than 100 shareholders can
submit a written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary to propose a resolution relating to other matters
at a general meeting. The written requisition must state the
resolution, accompanied by a statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to
in the proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at the general meeting and contain the signatures of all the
requisitionists (which may be contained in one document or
in several documents in like form). Such requisition must be
deposited at the Company’s registered office at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda not less
than six weeks before the general meeting in the case of a
requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not less than
one week before the general meeting in the case of any
other requisition and be accompanied by a sum of money
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses
in serving the notice of the resolution and circulating the
statement given by the requisitionists to all shareholders in
accordance with the requirements under the applicable laws
and rules.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Specific enquiries or suggestions by shareholders can be
sent in writing to the Board at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong or by email to the Company
(info@carrywealth.com). In addition, shareholders can
contact Tricor Abacus Limited, the Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer agent of the Company, if they have
any enquiries about their shareholdings and entitlement to
dividend. Relevant contact details are set out on page 5 of
this Annual Report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year.
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Report of the Directors EE & ¥R &

The directors present their report together with the audited
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
30 to the financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s
performance for the year by operating segment is set out in
Note 5 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2018 is set out on pages 12 to 20 under
Management Discussion and Analysis of this Annual Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 64. The directors
do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 6
of this Annual Report.

BANK BORROWING

Particulars of the Group’s borrowing and pledged assets are
set out in Note 25 to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors &5 = R &

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS FEHEERER
The percentages of purchases and sales for the year AEBTEZEHEEHEREFNEANMEZ
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers KERHEERDLLET
are as follows:
()  Purchases o
— the largest supplier - ANHEERDS 32.4%
— five largest suppliers in aggregate —hARHEEFEE 85.4%
(i)  Sales $HE
— the largest customer —mAEP 97.0%
— five largest customers in aggregate —RAREFAF 100%

None of the directors, their close associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of
the directors owns more than 5% of the issued shares of
the Company) had an interest in the major suppliers or
customers.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year are set out in Note 26 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had no reserve (31
December 2017: Nil) available for distribution as computed
in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended). However, the Company’s share premium account
in the amount of HK$217,761,000 as at 31 December 2018
(31 December 2017: HK$217,761,000) may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares, subject to the
shareholders’ approval of the Company and compliance
with provision of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended) and the Bye-laws of the Company.

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in Notes 27 and 32a to
the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors EE SR &

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Mr. Li Haifeng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Ke (Vice President)
— appointed on 19 March 2018
Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James*
— ceased appointed on 1 April 2018
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu*
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi#
Ms. Zheng Xianzhi#

* Non-Executive Director
* Independent Non-Executive Director

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu and Mr. Zhang Zhenyi shall retire from
office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu, Mr. Zhang Zhenyi and Ms. Zheng Xianzhi
are independent non-executive directors of the Company
and all of them were appointed for a three-year term. The
board of Directors of the Company has received annual
confirmations of independence from each of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company pursuant to Rules
3.13 of the Listing Rules and as at the date of this Annual
Report still considers them to be independent.

EE

REARBERAREZBEH ARAZ
EEWMT:

FRALE (EERITHAEER)

ERELE (BIEE)
—-RZE-N\F=ZATNBEEE

FREE
—RZZE-N\FHA-BRILZE

BB o) 8 S A

SRR ST

WEB L

FERITESR
PENMEITES

REBEARR 2 ERABIE875R - EEoKxHE
FERRREREABERE XTE
BRTREREEITZERBFRE
LEEEE

ERKBEAE - RIRBEERBAEELL
VRARRZBYFATES HZE
HER=ZF -ARAIESTSCLKI R
B IFMITERRIE LR RISE3.131%
MEBYMEHFERER UNAFE
HBEBH REDREIELBIIE

Annual Report 2018 FE & 48



Report of the Directors EE SR &

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Mr. Li Haifeng
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Li Haifeng, aged 48, was appointed as the Chairman
and an executive director of the Company in June 2011
and is the Chairman of both the Nomination Committee
and Investment Committee of the Company. He was also
appointed as a Chief Executive Officer of the Company
in April 2017. Mr. Li is the sole director of Dragon Peace
Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company. He is
responsible for overall corporate and business development
and strategic direction of the Group, and provides leadership
for the board of directors of the Company. Mr. Li has
extensive experience in information technology and waste
water treatment industries. He is currently an executive
director and a vice president of Beijing Enterprises Water
Group Limited (“BEWG”) (a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 371) and
the chairman of the Supervisory Committee of BEWG
Environmental Group Co., Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary
of BEWG, and is mainly responsible for both the PRC and
overseas water markets. Mr. Li holds a Bachelor degree in
Law from the Faculty of Law in Peking University in 1992,
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Mr. Wang Ke
Vice President

Mr. Wang Ke, aged 34, has been appointed as an executive
director and vice president of the Company since March
2018 and is a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee and Investment Committee of the Company. He
was appointed as a non-executive director of Kong Sun
Holdings Limited (stock code: 295), a company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange on 14 November
2017. Mr. Wang has over eight years of experience in the
field of investment. From August 2010 to August 2011, he
was an investment manager in China Kingho Energy Group
Co., Ltd. Mr. Wang also held a position as an investment
manager in China Gas Holdings Limited (stock code: 384),
a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
during the period of January 2014 to August 2014. He was
a senior vice president at Pohua JT Management Limited
from 2014 to 2016. Mr. Wang has been a director of Magic
Assets Limited, a company providing investment and finance
consultancy services, since February 2015. He holds a
Master of Arts in Global Business Management from the City
University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James, aged 72, is a founder of the
Group. He was the Managing Director and a member of
the Investment Committee of the Company prior to his re-
designation from an Executive Director to a Non-executive
Director in April 2017, and was responsible for all day-
to-day corporate management matters and planning and
developing the Group’s strategy. Mr. Lee has over thirty
years of experience in the manufacture and distribution of
apparel products.
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Mr. Yau Wing Yiu
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu, aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company in July
2011 and is the Chairman of both the Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. He has extensive
experience in financial management, corporate finance and
investment. Mr. Yau was the partner and chief financial
officer of AID Partners Capital Limited which is a private
equity investment fund. Mr. Yau also worked for various
listed companies in Hong Kong and overseas and a number
of international investment banks. He was an executive
director, independent non-executive director and chief
financial officer of China Everbright Water Limited (formerly
known as HanKore Environment Tech Group Limited), whose
shares are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (stock code: U9E). Mr. Yau is a member
of both American Institute of Certified Public Accountant
and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant. He
holds a Master Degree of Business Administration in Finance
from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology,
Graduate School of Business and a BA (Hons) in Business
Studies from The City University of Hong Kong.
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Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi, aged 38, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company
in March 2017 and is a member of each of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. He has been appointed as
an executive director, chief financial officer, authorized
representative and authorized person of Wan Kei Group
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange; stock code: 1718) with effect from 5
January 2018, as well as an independent director of Jiangsu
Protruly Vision Technology Group Co., Ltd (a company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange; stock code: 600074)
with effect from July 2018. He has extensive experience in
financial, risk and investment management. From 2012 to
the end of 2016, Mr. Zhang was the chief financial officer
of EACHWAY Fashion Group (Shenzhen) Limited and was
responsible for supervising and managing the group’s
financial, internal control and investment management
matters. Prior to that, he served as the finance in charge
and project in charge of an automobile group in PRC and
a consulting firm listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhang
obtained a Master Degree of Business Management from
University of Science and Technology Beijing in 2011, he
holds qualifications as a Certified Public Accountant, Senior
International Finance Manager and Senior Accountant in
the PRC. Mr. Zhang is a fellow member of the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants and holds certificates
of Chartered Global Management Accountant certificate and
certificate of independent director of the Shanghai Stock
Exchange.
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Ms. Zheng Xianzhi
Independent Non-Executive Director

Ms. Zheng Xianzhi, aged 35, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company in June
2017 and is a member of each of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. She has over ten years of experience in
the legalfield practicing both as an attorney in New York
and a registered foreign lawyer in Hong Kong. Ms. Zheng
worked in Commerce & Finance Law Offices in Beijing and
was responsible for mergers and acquisitions and initial
public offerings. She was also an International Legal Project
Manager of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
and had been in charge of various legal and compliance
works for listed companies including Chinese state-owned
enterprises and investment banks. She is currently a
registered foreign lawyer of an international law firm in Hong
Kong and was admitted to The People’s Republic of China
Bar and New York State Bar Association. Ms. Zheng holds a
Bachelor of Law from North China University of Technology
in the PRC as well as a Master of Law from both University
of International Business and Economics in the PRC and
Duke University in the United States of America.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF A DIRECTOR

The change in the information of a director of the Company,
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules, is as follows:

Name of Director

EEns

Details of Change
BENHTE

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
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Appointed as an independent director of Jiangsu Protruly Vision

Technology Group Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange; stock code: 600074) since July 2018.
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Becoming a fellow member of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants and holds certificates of Chartered Global Management
Accountant certificate and certificate of independent director of the

Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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Save as disclosed above, there is no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company, which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, Directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and
profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall
or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty, or supposed duty provided that this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
which may attach to the Directors. Such provisions were
in force during the year ended 31 December 2018 and
remained in force as of the date of this report.

B AT BEEIN SEEE M E R AR
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’

INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2018, the interests of the directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 352 of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

in the share capital of the Company

Name of director

EERE

Mr. Li Haifeng
FEALE

Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Note: The shares were held by Dragon Peace Limited, which was wholly

owned by Mr. Li Haifeng.

50

Capacity
g%

Interest of a controlled
corporation
RIEHEE s

Beneficial owner

EnEAA

Beneficial owner

ExfAA

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited B Z1=RAR L T

Personal
interests

AR

9,664,706

500,000

698,235
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Number of shares held

RERGHE
Percentage of
Corporate Total issued share
interests interests capital
EE&T
AT R BiEn &= 174
404,944,690 404,944,690 49.50
(Note)
(BzE)
- 9,664,706 1.18
= 500,000 0.06
- 698,235 0.08
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of
the directors and chief executives of the Company or their
respective associates had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to
be kept under section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed in the sections headed
“DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND/
OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATION” and “SHARE
OPTION SCHEME” herein, at no time during the year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, its parent company
or any subsidiary of its parent company a party to any
arrangement to enable the Company’s Directors or their
respective spouses or children under 18 years of age to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company,
any of its subsidiaries, its parent company or any subsidiary
of its parent company was a party and in which a director
of the Company or his/her connected entity had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the directors of the Company had
any interest in a business (other than those businesses
where the Directors of the Company were appointed as
directors to represent the interests of the Company and/or
any member of the Group) which is considered to compete
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2018, as recorded in the register
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, the
Company had been notified of the following person (other
than the directors and chief executive of the Company) who
had interests in the shares and/or underlying shares of the
Company which fell to be disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
in the share capital of the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity

%R & &t

Dragon Peace Limited Beneficial owner

EDEEA

Note: The shares were held by Dragon Peace Limited, which was wholly
owned by Mr. Li Haifeng. These interests were duplicated with
the interests of Mr. Li Haifeng as disclosed in the section headed
“DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND/OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY SPECIFIED
UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION”.

5 2 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited B Z1=RAR L T
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the
Company had not been notified of any other person (other
than the directors and chief executive of the Company)
who had an interest or short positions in the shares and/or
underlying shares of the Company which fell to be disclosed
to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors of
the Company, there is a sufficiency of public float of the
Company'’s securities as required under the Listing Rules as
at the date of this Annual Report.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

On 22 May 2012, the shareholders of the Company
approved the adoption of a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”). A summary of the principal terms of the Scheme,
as disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules is as
follows:

(i) Purpose

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant options to participants as incentives or rewards
for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Company and/or any of the subsidiaries.

(ii) Qualifying participants

Any person being an employee, director (including
executive director, non-executive director or independent
non-executive director), consultant, representative,
professional adviser, customer, business partner, joint
venture partner, strategic partner, landlord or tenant
of, or any supplier or provider of goods or services to,
the Company or any subsidiary, and any trustee(s) of a
discretionary trust of which one or more beneficiaries
belong to any of the abovementioned category(ies) of
persons.
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)

54

Maximum number of shares

The total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme is 80,470,023 which is 9.83% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this
Annual Report.

Maximum entitlement of each qualifying participant

No qualifying participant shall be granted any options
which, if exercised in full, would result in such person’s
maximum entitlement exceeding 1% of the aggregate
number of shares for the time being issued and issuable
under the Scheme in the 12-month period up to and
including the proposed grant date unless such grant
is approved in advance by the shareholders in general
meeting.

No qualifying participant who is a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or any of their respective associates shall be
granted any options, which, if exercised in full, would
result in the shares issued and issuable to such person
under the Scheme in the 12-month period up to and
including the proposed grant date for such options,
unless such grant of options is approved in advance by
the shareholders of the Company in general meeting:

(@) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the number
of shares then in issue; and

(b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets on each relevant date on
which the grant of such options is made to such
person under the relevant scheme, in excess of
HK$5 million.

Option period

In respect of any particular option, such period
commencing on the date of grant or such later date as
the directors may decide and expiring on such date as
the directors may determine, such period not to exceed
10 years from the date of grant.

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 1R AR X T
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(vi) Acceptance of offer

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for
acceptance for a period of 30 days from the date of
the letter containing the grant. An offer of the grant of
the option shall be regarded as having been accepted
when the duplicate of the grant letter duly signed by
the grantee together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the
grant thereof is received by the Company.

(vii) Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any particular option
shall be such price as the board may determine at the
date of grant of the relevant option but shall be at least
the highest of:

(@) The closing price of the Company’s shares as stated
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day;

(b) The average closing price of the Company’s shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and

(c) The nominal value of the Company’s shares.
(viii) The remaining life of the Scheme

The directors shall be entitled at any time within 10 years
commencing on 22 May 2012 to offer the grant of an
option to any qualifying participants.

No share options were outstanding as at 1 January 2018
and 31 December 2018. No share options were granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “SHARE
OPTION SCHEME” in this Annual Report, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares, or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares, were entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the Laws of Bermuda.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 21 to 40 of
this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MATTERS

The Company’s compliance with the relevant provisions
set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules for the
financial year ended 31 December 2018 will be set out in a
standalone Environmental, Social and Governance Report
and published on the Group’s and the Stock Exchange’s
websites within three months after the publication of the
2018 annual report.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Wang Ke
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CARRY WEALTH HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
QUALIFIED OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Carry Wealth Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 144,
which comprise:

e the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018;
e the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Our qualified opinion

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(*HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

As set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
has a 41.45% equity interest in Exellar Limited (formerly known as United
Security Solutions International Limited) and its subsidiaries (together
referenced to as “Exellar”) which was accounted for as an associate
under the equity method. The Group has recorded a share of loss of
HK$26,065,000 for Exellar for the year ended 31 December 2018 in its
consolidated income statement and the investment is carried at nil balance
on the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018. Moreover,
the Group has advanced three loans totalling US$673,000 (equivalent to
HK$5,217,000) to Exellar during the year. Such loans together with the
accumulated interest receivable were fully impaired and an impairment loss
of HK$5,445,000 was recognised in the consolidated income statement for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Group’s management relied on the financial information provided
by management of Exellar to account for the result of Exellar shared by
the Group and to assess the impairment of its investment in and loans
to Exellar. However, current management of Exellar did not have access
to, and therefore they were not able to provide to the Group and the
component auditor of Exellar, a set of complete and accurate accounting
records. In addition, the component auditor was unable to obtain
representation from management of Exellar on the completeness and
accuracy of the accounting records of Exellar. Accordingly, the component
auditor did not express an opinion on the consolidated financial information
of Exellar as at and for the year ended 31 December 2018 as they were not
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an
audit opinion.

Given the above scope limitation, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence with respect to the result of Exellar shared by
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018, the carrying value of the
investment in associate as at 31 December 2018 as well as the carrying
value and the impairment loss in respect of the loans to Exellar as at and for
the year ended 31 December 2018. There were no other satisfactory audit
procedures that we could perform to determine whether any adjustments
were necessary in respect of the Group’s share of loss of associate of
HK$26,065,000 and the impairment loss in respect of the loans to an
associate of HK$5,445,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018, together
with the investment in an associate and loans to an associate which were
both carried at nil balances as at 31 December 2018.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. In addition to the matter described in the Basis for Qualified
Opinion section, we have determined the matter described below to be the
key audit matter to be communicated in our report.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment assessment
of non-current assets.

Key Audit Matter
FAgETEIE

Impairment assessment of non-current assets

FRBEENREFG

Refer to Notes 4, 14 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements

FE2HRRAMEHRERN S 14K17

HMERBEESHMASRMN (FBRFLE
A1) #ITRA - BMEZSELY TRENEEDHE
ARE RBEHEHRA MR AENEE]
Mo EE— SR -

BPIEE RAMESHETER
wARMNREE LIEHER-

ExRREE

REFEGFTMRASRMN (FEXGAMBRT
A (A TEHEITA))  BABLR EXE
YERTTRRNEMELEREE

FAEETEIN

MREAZELRERANERALE - BAE AN
FAMBRENBIRAEENER t¢b$lﬁx%
ERMEFBRGAMBRRRHAR LRE

BEN HBMUTEHELEREREBFNER B?
TIREBEENER] Mo PR IR HFIHEE
NTEBERFEERETEBNERETER-

BPERT P OERETFRIMNIERD
BEMRENMG-

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
B ETNTRERRENSIE

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of non-current assets included the following:

B EEREH RS EEREFENEFEE:

The carrying value of non-current assets attributable to -

Group amounted to HK$74,842,000 as at 31 December
2018, comprised of buildings, land use rights and other fixed
assets, amounting to HK$53,864,000, HK$9,145,000 and
HK$11,833,000, respectively.
RZZ-—NF+ZA=+—H ' BSEEGIERDHEEN
EEEALtTHAENTRE-FTH T EFAEF=8NA1+ 8
NWFAET - AWBE—THERATELE—TFT—BNT=ZE=T
BRI RET - L b B R HEAEFEE -

assessed the appropriateness of valuation methodology
applied in the valuation report (“Report”) for land use rights
prepared by the independent external valuation expert;
FHEEMAMNEEERER A ARGERS ([RED K
FrrERER EREE L

assessed the qualification, independence and reputation of
the independent external valuation expert;

AEBUIMEREERNER B EREBE:
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Key Audit Matter
FAgeEst=In

Impairment assessment of non-current assets
(Continued)
FERBEER IR ERE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s
operating loss has increased to HK$24,126,000 (2017:
HK$3,124,000). Management considers this as an indicator
of impairment, triggering a need to perform an impairment
assessment of the Group’s non-current assets.
HE-Z-)/\F+ZA=T—HLEFE - EBEfEZEKZLER
BAZ-_THAE—+tZB8X"THET(ZE—tF:Z5—1T=
ENTEL) ERERRUTDBELR sIHFHE EF
EFRBHEEZRME-

Buildings are revalued annually and carried at fair value,
hence management considered there to be no impairment.
Management determined the recoverable amount of land use
rights carried at amortised cost, with the assistance from
an independent external valuation expert. For the remaining
non-current assets, other than plant and equipment and
leasehold improvements with individually immaterial carrying
values, management determined the recoverable amount
by benchmarking against the price quotation of comparable
assets in the second hand market. Based on management’s
assessment, no impairment on the carrying value of the
Group’s non-current assets was necessary.
BFSFEMATRAABEIK BRHEREERR TN FER
BE-EREEBIIINELEERNGE T T AZHK AT
MRE) TR R 2 TN Bl S 5 - SR RIREIIEM B EE  BRE
BHRERNEHEEZREMNRXEARBEREIN ERED
B F ISP AL E E TS RE R L EREE A WD &
BoRBERENNG AEEFERBDEENRAETT ER
18 o

This area was of most significance to our audit due to
the significance of the non-current assets to the Group’s
consolidated balance sheet, and the fact that management’s
assessment of the recoverable amount of land use rights
involved significant judgement based on observable market
data.

PR EERMNEAMEXAER IIERERDEE
Y EEENGEMBHRRMEBEN BEEEYHLIMER
AW E SR E S RE A BRETIS BB ELER A -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMES TR EFARENSEE

— compared the key observable market data used in the Report
with independent source data; and

- HEHEAMARRABREDSREEB T RRENEE: &

— in relation to the recoverable values of other assets used
by management, we checked, on a sample basis, the
market price quotations for comparable assets identified
by management to the relevant source. We also compared,
on a sample basis, the key specifications, including the
model, year of manufacture, equipment and modifications
of the comparable properties, plant and equipment with
those owned by the Group to assess the suitability of the
comparison. We also performed our own internet search,
on a sample basis, on the market values of similar property,
plant and equipment.

- MEEETANEMEENAKREERG RMARMET i
EEEERMEBRREENAILEENTISRE BMITE
BEMER PR T FERE BEELR REFH RER
ALBYE BERRBONE URAEEEENYE
A ENER BRMBESEANER - HRUYE K
EREFEGBNTHEEET TECNERERER -

Based on the procedures performed, we found management’s
impairment assessment of non-current assets to be supportable
based on the available evidence.

BEMPTHNEF KMRREEEUERDEENRETED
BERBERO
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section above,
we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the
Group’s share of loss of associate and the impairment loss in respect of
the loans to an associate for the year ended 31 December 2018, together
with the carrying value of the investment in an associate and loans to an
associate as at 31 December 2018. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude
whether or not the other information is materially misstated with respect to
this matter.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

it

il

fiL 152

BENRERAHEMESEE -HMNESBESF
BANMBERS BTEEESMBRREEM
R BN R o

BMEGAMBRERNBERLNRELMBESR
BATATHZEEMESRRTARANEETS

N
afg ©

BERMEGREMBRERNET  HMANEEZH
FEEMES EULBRED  EEEMESTE LR
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EEAREBELEUFFEERERBRALNER
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FHEEA#HRRL RMUFEREZFE - W LEX
[REEROER] B0 - B FIEEY B
BhEEEERERT -HBELEERZRE
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HREANEBREHENEMESEEFEEANERMR
AAF AR

EFRGEVBERARENERE

ERAEFAREREBEBBSHMASHEMN (&
BUBRELEL) REE (REIGHD) WRERE
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RS BERROBETFEARKIFRERM
BYMEANERBAAFEN A EFEE -

ERBGEaBERRE EX0ENE AKES
BREENREN THEERBATHREEASELE
BRMER URERFECERAGHER  RIE
EXEER BEEEFRHFLELE  KBIEHLM
ERMEBERTR-

EZFAAEEY BEEMNUBREBRE-
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Chan Hin Gay Gabriel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE—-F

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other gains — net

Impairment loss on loans to
an associate

Selling expenses

Administrative expenses

Operating loss
Finance income
Finance expense

Finance expense — net

Share of result of an associate

Share of result of a joint venture

Impairment loss on investment in
a joint venture

Loss before income tax
Income tax expenses

Loss for the year attributable to
equity holders of the Company

Loss per share attributable to the
equity holders of the Company
for the year

— basic (HK cents)

— diluted (HK cents)

—NF+ZA=+—BLHFE

Y &
35 & A AR

el

Hib Wz — 35
METF—HBLELEY
BERREEE
HER X

TERAX

REmR
BEWA
BMERX

BMERX —F8

J& 4 — R Bt &
Eih—MEE
R—HEeErEZ
"EREBE

B P 15 35 B 5 18
CIRER A2

RARREDTH A
FEfhF E B8

FARBANR A HELS

FEARGZERER

— & AR (GBI

—#F (B1)

The above consolidated income statement should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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BhRZEE
BhRZEE

2018

—E-N\%F

Note HK$’000

B 5% FHET

5 328,513

7 (288,864)

39,649

6 211

15 (5,445)

7 (6,238)

7 (52,303)

(24,126)

8 394

8 (818)

(424)

15 (26,065)

16 =

16 -

(50,615)

9 -

(50,615)

10 (6.19)

10 (6.19)
AR A WA SRR FE B 5 —

2017
—tF
HK$’000
TAET

244,590
(204,512)

40,078
3,687

(4,550)
(42,339)

(3,124)
44
(175)

(131)

(5,723)
(5,331)

(15,647)

(29,956)

(29,956)

(3.66)

(3.66)

BRI E



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income #r& & H U A R &R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE—Z— \F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2018 2017
—EF-N\E —"T—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Loss for the year FEERE (50,615) (29,956)
Other comprehensive income: Hi2EIA :
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently H g T ] Ex 7482
to profit or loss Bwmitk s HE
Revaluation gain, net of tax: Bfhias - MBRTIE -
— properties, plant and equipment e/ E RN 10,505 3,072
ltem that may be reclassified to profit or loss BB 7B E Bk HEH
Currency translation differences lER =% (1,580) 1,135
Other comprehensive income FEEMEERKA -
for the year, net of tax HIBR 18 8,925 4,207
Total comprehensive loss for the year KRAIESREA
attributable to equity holders of EEFETHREBEERARE
the Company (41,690) (25,749)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income FiiRE 2 EBAREK EEKE— 5
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. B
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As at 31 December 2018 R =ZE—\F+=-A=+—H

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Properties, plant and equipment
Investment in an associate
Investment in a joint venture
Land use rights
Deposits and other receivable

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables

Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

EQUITY
Share capital
Other reserves
Accumulated losses

Total equity

BE

ERBEE

E RNV S L
R—BEEEZRE
R—HaEEEZKRE
T b ih

B & N Ho Al R URIR

BERDEE

REEE

e

B 5 N b R YRR
BAREFABRKRZ
TREE
RekBHEFEER

BRBEE
MEE
=
A
H A 1
Rt k8

BEm
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i

\

&

Note
B =t

14
15
16
17
20

19
20

21
22

26
27

2018
—F-N\EF
HK$’000
TF#ET

65,697

9,145

74,842

59,829
34,923

2,337
71,084

168,173

243,015

81,804
216,317
(137,367)

160,754

2017
—ET—+F
HK$’000
FHT

51,890
26,065

9,881
15,406

103,242

50,260
52,077

3,618
67,456

173,311

276,553

81,804
207,392
(86,752)

202,444



Consolidated Balance Sheet 8 EEE&E X

As at 31 December 2018 R =—ZE—\F+=-F=+—H

2018 2017
—E-NE —ZT—+tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B 5% FHET FET
LIABILITIES BfE
Non-current liabilities ERENERE
Deferred income tax liabilities REMERAasE 23 11,820 8,319
Current liabilities mEBEE
Trade and other payables 5 RHEMERNKIE 24 64,759 59,838
Borrowing B3 25 5,682 5,952
Total current liabilities MAESAR 70,441 65,790
Total liabilities L= R 82,261 74,109
Total equity and liabilities BERREE 243,015 276,553

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 144 FOLEEFIMBENGEETBMERE B
were approved by the Board of Director on 29 March 2019 EEER_TE-NAF=ZAZt+NLB#

and were signed on its behalf. R URRESEHZE-
Li Haifeng Wang Ke
Fipt EX
Chairman Executive Director
*E HITEE

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in rtiR e EEABREBENIT —HH

B

conjunction with the accompanying notes. g8
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T — N\F+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders
of the Company
ADRIESHEAERL

Other
Share reserves Accumulated
Capital (Note 27) losses Total
Hot
RA (F3E27) REEE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FAET FEL
Balance at 1 January 2017 R-ZZE—+&—H—H
i 81,804 203,185 (56,796) 228,193
Comprehensive loss 2EEE
Loss for the year FEEBE - = (29,956) (29,956)
Other comprehensive income Hih 2EPA
Revaluation gain, net of tax: HhE MRTE:

- properties, plant and equipment - HEREE - 3,072 - 3,072
Currency translation differences fE X Z 8 - 1,135 - 1,135
Total other comprehensive income  EH {2 HE KA 2% - 4,207 = 4,207
Total comprehensive income/(loss)  2EWA/ (E1R) @458 - 4,207 (29,956) (25,749)
Balance at 31 December 2017 RZE—+F

+-R=1+—H#&% 81,804 207,392 (86,752) 202,444
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE T — \F+_A=+—HIEFE

Balance at 1 January 2018

Comprehensive loss

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
Revaluation gain, net of tax:

- properties, plant and equipment
Currency translation differences

Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income/(loss)

Balance at 31 December 2018

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

R_T—-/\$—H—H
BH

2EEE

FEBR

Hitt2EmBEA

Bl MBHE:
e EN S

ERER

Y ON L

2EBA/ (BR) &R

HK$°000

of the Company

Ll AR A R B

85,

Annual Report 2018 FE &

Attributable to equity holders

RATHEGHE AEY
Other
Share reserves Accumulated
Capital (Note 27) losses
Hitks
(&N (BHaE27) RitiE
HK$’'000 HK$’000
FTiER TiER FET
81,804 207,392 (86,752)
- - (50,615)
- 10,505 -
- (1,580) -
- 8,925 -
- 8,925 (50,615)
81,804 216,317 (137,367)

Total

it
HK$’000
F7

202,444

(50,615)

10,505
(1,580)

8,925

(41,690)

160,754

B K 8 BT 5 — G B
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE—-F

2018 2017
—EB-N\E —ZT—+F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FAET
Cash flows from HLEEHZHERHE
operating activities
Net cash generated from operations &E&EE 2 FIRE 28 3,253 81,650
Income tax paid BEX & %R - (3,368)
Interest paid BB (818) (179)
Net cash generated from KETREEE Y
operating activities fﬁi@%ﬁ 2,435 78,107
Cash flows from BEFRSHZHE&RE
investing activities
Purchase of properties, BEVE KREREZBE
plant and equipment (5,077) (615)
Proceeds from disposals of HEWE - HEKEE
properties, plant and equipment Fr18 5018 4 17
Proceed from disposal of s + b {55 FHE 8 2B
land use right - 7,069
Other loan repayment from/ KT NUFE=FHMERZ
(advanced to) a third party EiE/ (KE¥F) 11,423 (11,423)
Loans to an associate ERTF—RHBEDE (5,217) -
Investment in an associate R—EEErEIRE (1,004) (30,989)
Interest received 2 F A 394 44
Net cash generated from/(used in) & EEEEL  (FFH) 2
investing activities ReFHE 523 (35,897)
Cash flows from REESHZHEE&RE
financing activities
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITERABRIE 17,857 5,952
Repayments of bank borrowings iR 7 Tféf TXZ1§ = (17,857) —
Net cash generated from financing ®EEBELEZEEFE
activities - 5,952
Net increase in cash and HeRrRB&FEEBZ
cash equivalents R0 2,958 48,162
Cash and cash equivalents at FUREMIREEFMEIEE
beginning of the year 67,456 21,534
Exchange gains/(losses) b Wz (BE) 670 (2,240)
Cash and cash equivalents FREERELEHIEH
at end of the year 71,084 67,456
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be FiiiRea R e mE R EMEN T — 65

Bs

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. g
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) manufacture and trade garment products and
engage in securities investment. The Group has production facilities in
Mainland China.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda
and is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The
address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$’000”), unless otherwise stated.

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the
current year’s presentation of the financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The basis of preparation and the principal accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied for all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”), a collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretation issued by
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). These consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of buildings (Notes 2.7 and 14) and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Notes 2.10 and
21), which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF

72

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following new and amendments to standards have been
adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial year
beginning on or after 1 January 2018:

Classification and
Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions
Applying HKFRS 9 Financial

Amendments to
HKFRS 2

Amendments to

HKFRS 4 Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers and the related
amendments

Amendments to Clarification to HKFRS 15

HKFRS 15

Amendments to Transfers of Investment Property
HKAS 40

HK(IFRIC) Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration
Amendments to HKFRS 1 and
HKAS 28

— Interpretation 22
Annual improvements

to HKFRSs

2014-2016 cycle

The Group had to change its accounting policies following
the adoption of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15. Most of the other
amendments listed above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards that have been issued, but
are not effective for the financial year beginning 1 January
2018 and have not been early adopted

HKFRS 16 Leases

BBV E LRI E165% HE

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
BEMEREEREITH Rig& A
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definitions of Business
BBV B REEREIR Z(EF] ¥BZER

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

EREERTIEESTBRME

(48

~

21 RREE(§)

(b) ERFER=F-NF-—A—HFH
12 BB FE AR LR HIHERR R
BRAy 2 F7 AT R AR 5T 2R

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after

RT3 BEHSZE
Rl E AR £

1 January 2019
—ZT-hFE—-—A—H
1 January 2021
—T-_—%—A—H
1 January 2020
—ZE-TF-A—H
1 January 2019

BB B RE LR ESR 2ER]
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
BB BHE LR E1095 R
BB G ERE285 2 EF]
Amendments to HKAS 19
BEEGETERE195 2 BT
Amendments to HKAS 28
BB ERFE28R 2 BT
Annual improvement to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 cycle
BEMBRELEN T —HFE
Tt EFERRFERE
HK (IFRIC) - Interpretation 23

BERMENENRESR

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

—ZT-hFE—-—HA—H

To be determined

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

AN EERABRELER
BRLEZEEHERTE

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

FE

1 January 2019

FHEER] BRI EE —E-NAFE—H—H
Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2019
REENeErE s RS —E-AF—-H—H

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
HKAS 12 and HKAS 23
BBV BHmEERNEISR BAMBREENFE115
BB G ERE12% LB BT ER E235 2 EF]
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

1 January 2019
—ZT-hF—A—H

1 January 2019

BREVBRENE-2EE20LE  AEHERZ THEM

HKFRS 16, “Leases”

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in almost
all leases being recognised on the consolidated balance sheet
by lessees, as the distinction between operating and finance
leases is removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the
right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay
rentals are recognised. The only exceptions are short-term
and low-value leases.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the
Group’s operating leases.

As disclosed in note 29, as at 31 December 2018, the
Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of
HK$952,000 and these commitments are relate to short-term
leases which will be recognised on a straight-line basis as
expense in profit or loss. Accordingly, no right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities would be recognised as at 1 January
2019.
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74

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards that have been issued, but
are not effective for the financial year beginning 1 January
2018 and have not been early adopted (Continued)

HKFRS 16, “Leases” (Continued)

The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory
adoption date of 1 January 2019. The Group intends to
apply the simplified transition approach and will not restate
comparative amounts for the year prior to the first adoption.

Other than the need to account for the above mentioned
operating leases on the consolidated balance sheet, the
directors do not anticipate that the application of other
new and revised HKFRSs will have material impact in the
consolidated balance sheet.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

The impacts of adopting HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 are disclosed
below:

(i)  HKFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”

HKFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and
recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. It
replaces the guidance in HKAS 39 that relates to the
classification and measurement of financial instruments.
HKFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model
and establishes three primary measurement categories for
financial assets: amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income and fair value through profit or loss.

The Group adopted HKFRS 9 on its effective date of 1
January 2018. In accordance with the transitional provisions
in HKFRS 9, comparative figures have not been restated.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2 RREERFIESTHBREE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) (%)

2.2 EFBRZEH (&)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i) HKFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (Continued) () BBUBEHREERFEIN [2FHT A

Classification and measurement

Based on an analysis of the Group’s financial instruments as
at 1 January 2018, the adoption of HKFRS 9 has no material
impact on the classification and measurement of the Group’s
financial assets and financial liabilities.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject
to new expected credit loss (“ECL”) model:

e trade receivables; and

e other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group was required to revise its impairment methodology
under HKFRS 9 for each of these classes of assets. There
was no impact of the change in impairment methodology on
the Group’s retained earnings and equity.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to
the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified
impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days
past due. The Group applied different expected loss rates
to different classes of trade receivables, according to their
respective risk characteristics.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

76

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i)

(i)

HKFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

The Group has assessed the ECL model applied to the
trade receivables as at 1 January 2018 and the change in
impairment methodologies has no significant impact of the
Group’s consolidated financial statements and the opening
loss allowance is not restated in this respect.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include deposits
and other receivables. The Group has assessed that the ECL
model apply to the deposits and other receivables as at 1
January 2018 and the change in impairment methodologies
has no material impact of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and the opening loss allowance is not restated in
this respect.

HKFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 from 1 January 2018
which resulted in changes in accounting policies and
adjustments to the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements. In accordance with the transition
provisions of HKFRS 15, the Group has adopted the modified
retrospective application, under which the cumulative effect
of the initial application is adjusted to the opening balance
of retained profits on 1 January 2018 and no comparative
figures are restated.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2 RREERFIESTHBREE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) (%)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 2.2 EitBIRZES (H)

(i) HKFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (i) BEBHBEHREERE155 [HES
(Continued) ZREERELZ K] (&)

HKFRS 15 establishes a new framework for revenue
recognition. This replaces HKAS 18 which covers contracts
for goods and services and HKAS 11 which covers
construction contracts. The new standard introduces a five-
step model to determine when to recognise revenue and
at what amount. Under the five-step model, revenue is
recognised when control of goods or services is transferred
to a customer and at the amount to which the entity expects
to be entitled. Depending on the nature of the contracts,
revenue is either recognised over time or at a point in time.
The new standard also sets out new capitalisation criteria
for contract acquisition costs which are incremental and the
entity is expected to recover them.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 did not result in any significant
impact on the Group’s financial position and results of
operations based on the current business model.

2.2.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for
business combinations by the Group (refer to note 2.3).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

2.2.2 Associate

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This is
generally the case where the Group holds between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investment in an associate is
accounted for using the equity method of accounting (Note
2.2.4), after initially being recognised at cost.

2.2.3 Joint arrangement

Under HKFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”, investments in joint
arrangements are classified as either joint operations or
joint ventures. The classification depends on the contractual
rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal
structure of the joint arrangement.

Investment in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method (Note 2.2.4), after initially being recognised at cost in
the consolidated balance sheet.

2.2.4 Equity accounting

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive income of
the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from an associate and a joint venture
are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other
entity.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2 REBERITESHHEHME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) &)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 2.2 ZFARBZRAIRESGEHE (F)

2.2.4 Equity accounting (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associate and joint venture are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of equity accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is
tested for impairment in accordance with the policy described
in note 2.9.

2.3 Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all
business combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments
or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

e fair values of the assets transferred;

e liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired
business;

e equity interests issued by the Group;

e fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement; and

e fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired
entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

80

2.3

2.4

2.5

Business combinations (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquired entity and acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity over
the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the
net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date. Any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Group the
basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified collectively as the board of directors
that makes strategic decisions.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(@)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-
measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the consolidated income statement within “administrative
expenses”.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and
liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value
gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets are included in other comprehensive income.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(¢) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

() assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of profit
or loss and statement of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other financial instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid,
the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit
or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2 REBERITESHHEHME
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) &)

2.7 Yi¥ - -BERE

i

2.7 Properties, plant and equipment

Buildings, comprising mainly factories and offices, are shown
at fair value, as determined by directors based on valuations by
external independent valuers which are performed on an annual
basis, less subsequent depreciation for land and buildings. Any
accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount
is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other plant
and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the
asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are charged to the consolidated income statement during the
financial year in which they are incurred.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land
and buildings are credited to the fixed asset revaluation reserve in
equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset
are charged against fixed asset revaluation reserve through other
comprehensive income and all other decreases are expensed in
the consolidated income statement.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

384

2.7

2.8

Properties, plant and equipment (Continued)

Properties, plant and equipment are depreciated at rates sufficient
to write off their cost or valuation to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual
rates are as follow:

Lower of 5% or
estimated useful life
Shorter of lease term or
estimated useful life
10% to 40%
10% to 40%

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery
Furniture, office equipment,
vessel and
motor vehicles

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“other gains — net” in the consolidated income statement.

When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in other
reserves are transferred to retained earnings through other
comprehensive income.

Land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for leasehold land interests
recognised as operating leases and land use rights are expensed
in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the periods of the lease or the land use right. When there
is impairment, the impairment is expensed in the consolidated
income statement.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2 REBERITESHHEHME
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) &)

i

2.9 Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, an associate and

a joint venture and other long-term non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example, goodwill
— are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. In addition, all assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in
use.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffer an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each subsequent reporting date.

2.10 Investments and other financial assets

2.10.1 Classification

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial assets
in the following measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair value through
profit or loss, and

e those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of
the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value (including equity
investments held for trading), gains and losses will be
recorded in profit or loss.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

2.102 Recognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.

2.10.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”"), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are subsequently measured at amortised
cost as they are held for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in “other
gains — net” together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the
statement of profit or loss.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value through profit or loss. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as
revenue when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in “revenue” in the consolidated income
statement.

Transaction costs of financial assets at FVPL are expensed in
profit or loss.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2 REBERITESHHEHME
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) &)

210 RERAMEMEE (F)

il

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

2.104 Impairment 2.104 518

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a forward
looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see note 3.1(b) for further details.

2.105 Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively, but has
elected not to restate comparative information. As a result,
the comparative information provided continues to be
accounted for in accordance with the Group’s previous
accounting policy.

Until 31 December 2017, the Group classifies its financial
assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit
or loss and loans and receivables. The classification depends
on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition.

(a) Recognition and measurement

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at
fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried
at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised
at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the
consolidated income statement. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried
at fair value. Loans and receivables are subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

83

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

2.105 Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

@)

(b)

@

Recognition and measurement (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of the “financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss” category are presented in the consolidated income
statement within “other gains — net” in the period in
which they arise. Dividend income from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of “other gains
- net” when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the financial asset have expired or have
been legally transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the financial
asset.

Impairment

The Group assessed at the end of each reporting period
whether there was objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets was impaired. A
financial asset or a group of financial assets was impaired
and impairment losses were incurred only if there was
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (or events)
had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that could be
reliably estimated.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

2.105 Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

(c) Impairment (Continued)
Assets carried at amortised cost

For loans and receivables that were carried at amortised
cost, the amount of the loss was measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that had not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset was
reduced and the amount of the loss was recognised in
the consolidated income statement. If a loan or held-
to-maturity investment had a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss was
the current effective interest rate determined under the
contract. As a practical expedient, the Group could
measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair
value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreased and the decrease could be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised
impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Impairment testing of trade and other receivables is
described in Note 2.13.

2.11 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The Group has also entered into arrangements
that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but still allow for the
related amounts to be set off in certain circumstances, such as
bankruptcy or the termination of a contract.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

90

2.12

2.13

2.14

Inventories

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of purchased
inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts.
Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.
The cost comprises materials, direct labour, and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter
being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. It
excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.
Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days
and therefore are all classified as current. If collection of other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method, less allowance for impairment. The Group
holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. See
Note 20 for further information about the Group’s accounting for
trade and other receivables and Note 3.1(b) for a description of
the Group’s impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated cash flow
statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
deposits held at call with bank and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.15

2.16

217

2.18

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represented liabilities for goods or
services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. They are classified as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method.

Borrowing

Borrowing is initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowing is subsequently measured at amortised
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate
method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.
Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date in the countries where the Group’s subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to
the tax authorities.

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time
of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to on a net basis or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

2.20 Employee benefits

()

Employee leave entitlement and long service payment

Liabilities for employee entitlements to annual leave that are
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the
end of the period in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up
to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit
obligations in the balance sheet.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

94

2.20 Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay
all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions
to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group
has no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses,
based on performance and takes into consideration the
segment profit. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a post practice that
has created a constructive obligation.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date, or
when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange
for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits
at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b)
when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring that
is within the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment
of terminations benefits. In the case of an offer made to
encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are
measured based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present
value.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.21

2.22

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation
and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for the future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate
used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Revenue and other income

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities as described below. The Group bases its
estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type
of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each
arrangement.

Revenue from the sales of goods is the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sales of goods in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activities. It is recognised when
control of the products has transferred, which generally coincides
with the time when shipment is made, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the
products. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax, returns,
rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

Net gains/(losses) from security trading arise from the disposal
and remeasurement of financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss and is included in “Revenue”. All transactions related
to securities trading are recorded in the consolidated financial
statements based on trade dates. Accordingly, only those trade
dates falling within the accounting year have been taken into
account.

Dividend income is recognised when the rights to receive payment
is established.

2 BHEBEERTEE

(%

2.21

2.22

5

; st Bk B &

4]

HASEBHRBEEHRBERAERRK
HEREMRATEGHERTHAKE
BE- MA MRS REER S EEE - RIE
REMAEE - THAMRBREEHBEERE
e

HERZBEHURE BHREEFEER
MR AR R E BEB ALK
BE-AERBEEETEN-EFTELR
T AT AR IR )RR

BEDERBENREEEHSEEAN
BEEMEXENREGTNREFE-
BEERERRZMEE/RRTESE A
HERKEBREENTGHRZEEEER
Bz £ B3¢ AT 1) 2 o ) PR D7 4 T 462 00 0 9848
HRBM BRI

Wor 2 % L At W A

B0 B - $%.7§AW =& REAE Al S AT
ERAREEMNZIREBRAETEEAN
EENEEEDRFEEEEERERY
moARBEBRBERTES URHRER

R RSERIRBFELE 2 FIERED
gt e
LEERZREEAEBERABEBKEH

BREPHRHEER D RHERREZ
NfE EREREFEEERER —
ARENTERS F B B A A MORB A RE R
BEFPHERERRBENKRBITAEE-
Waa BRI ER  RE - B RITHXE
HEAEBANHERRIIR-

D%EEZH& s/ (B18) FETDRER
NAREFABRGEZERTARERSE
M8 Wit ATREIF-MARES
BEERAMZR IR BHRENEE
BHmE At EREAFEAZRS
Rt AZERS -

P B A T 7 AT U ER R B
N &

TR e R

95

Annual Report 2018 FEE %



Notes to the Financial Statements 81 %% ¥ 3% [ T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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2.23

2.24

2.25

Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for
financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For
credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is applied
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of
the loss allowance).

Leases (as the lessee)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are not transferred to the Group as lessee are classified
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases, net
of any incentives received from the lessor, are charged to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the
lease period.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control over the Group;
(2) has significant influence over the Group; or

(3) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or its parent.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Related parties (Continued)

(i)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

M

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the reporting entity or an
entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the reporting entity.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (i).

A person identified in (i)(1) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management person.

2.26 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s equity holders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in the year in which the dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders.

2.27 Government grant

Grant from the government is recognised at their fair values where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

2 BHEBEERTEE

(%

5

)

st Bk B &

2.25 BAER (8)

(i) WA THMERMEM -

Al Z B IR

SEARE

M

2.26 }]X =3 ﬁ in

ZERBEASEBER -SEZ
RERR (BIEFAE - B
B K [F 216 B8 & Bl R Lk e B B
) -

—HEBASERzBED
EXYagrXE (A5 —EREAE
EETKRERBZEERER
BELEZKERA) -

MEEBERBOARA-—%£=724
g

*ﬁﬁW%”EEE%Z
M5 =
ppdi ’L\\

ERSBETERBAHAREER
ﬁ@@Za?%Eaﬂﬁﬁi
ZBERARFE B - RS EEEA
%Eﬁ@*ﬂ’hfﬁ%ZE
TRERE BB ARE

Z()APTERIA TR R
AP EIIATHEREEX

FENABZERBZIEER
ERE -

DIRTARBERFAEAZBERER

ARRIEZ FERNAEBLER

R

RPERBAEE-

2.27 B FF##Bh

i B 5 & T2 7 5E 745 U B BT B0 6 B B AR
SEETTE PR MR - RIBUT #8 Y
BEREER-

Annual Report 2018 FE &

97



Notes to the Financial Statements 81 %% ¥ 3% [ T

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

93

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, price risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Market risk

()

Foreign exchange risk

The Group has factories and offices in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. Operating expenses of the Group are
primarily denominated in HK$ and Chinese Renminbi
(“RMB”), whereas the Group’s revenue from sale of
goods are principally denominated in United States dollar
(“US$”). Thus, the Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from the translation to RMB and HK$.

In the opinion of the directors, the HK$ is reasonably
stable against the US$ under the Linked Exchange Rate
System, and accordingly, no sensitivity analysis with
respect to the US$ is performed.

The Group has foreign operations, whose net assets
expose the Group to foreign currency translation risks.

For the operations in Mainland China, majority of the
transactions were denominated in RMB. The conversion
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and
regulations of the foreign exchange controls promulgated
by the Chinese government. The exchange rate of RMB
has fluctuated over the years. No financial instrument
was used for hedging purposes for the year. The Group
is closely monitoring the currencies exchange risk of
RMB and is looking for any opportunities to mitigate the
currency exchange risk of RMB.

As at 31 December 2018, if HK$ had strengthened/
weakened by 5% (2017: 5%) against RMB with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s net assets
at the year end and loss for the year would have been
HK$3,633,000 (2017: HK$3,028,000) lower/higher,
respectively, mainly as a result of foreign currency
translation differences on translation of the foreign
operations in Mainland China.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@) Market risk (Continued)

(b)

(i)

(i)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk
arises from equity investments held by the Group and
classified on the consolidated balance sheet as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 21).
The Group is not exposed to commodity price risk.
To manage its price risk arising from investments in
equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio, in
accordance with the limits set by the Group.

The Group’s equity investments for trading purpose are
publicly traded or quoted in Hong Kong.

As 31 December 2018, if the listed price, quoted price
or fair value of each equity investment classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss has
appreciated/depreciated by 10% (2017: 10%), with
all other variables held constant, the Group’s loss for
the year would have been HK$234,000 lower/higher
(2017: HK$352,000 lower/higher), mainly as a result of
unrealised gains/losses on equity securities classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group does
not has floating rate interest-bearing bank deposits and
borrowings.

Credit risk

Credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash and cash
equivalents and security investments with banks and financial
institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers such
as trade receivables and other counterparty. The carrying
amount of these balances in the consolidated balance sheet
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to its financial assets.
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3 WMHERERE(F)

3.1 MBEERER (&)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREE (&

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject
to the expected credit loss model:

e trade receivables; and

e  other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group’s bank deposits are placed with banks and
financial institutions which are highly reputable with
multinational presences. Investment transactions are
executed with financial institutions with sound credit ratings
and the Group do not expect any significant counterparty
risk. Management does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these banks and financial institutions as they
have no default history in the past.

(i) Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies the HKFRS 9
simplified approach to measure expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all
trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 12 to 36 months before
31 December 2018 or 1 January 2018 respectively and
the corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Impairment losses
on trade receivables are presented as impairment losses
within other operating expenses. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against the
same line item.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

()

(i)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The expected credit loss for trade receivables not yet
due is close to zero and an expected credit loss rate of
approximately 0.03% to 0.23% for trade receivables past
due, the impact of the expected loss is assessed to be
immaterial and no further loss allowance is needed under
the expected credit loss model. Expected loss rate of
trade receivables as at 1 January 2018 are also assessed
to be insignificant.

In the prior year, the impairment of trade receivables
was assessed based on the incurred loss model.
Trade receivables are presented net of the provision for
impairment. Credit risks and exposures are controlled
and monitored on an ongoing basis by performing
individual credit evaluations for all customers. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and the current ability
to pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. In addition,
management reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade debt regularly to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable
amounts.

Other financial assets at amortised costs

The Group applies a 12-month expected credit loss on
other financial assets at amortised cost. Management
considered among other factors, analysed historical
pattern and concluded that the expected credit loss for
other financial assets at amortised cost to be immaterial
as the credit risk is assessed as low.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HBREMEER(8)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MBREKEER (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (c) mEBEZERE

The Group meets its day to day working capital requirements,
capital expenditure and financial obligations through cash
inflow from operating activities and issue of new shares.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months
equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is
not significant.

AEEERBREEH I HERARE
NRETHRENBEEERSNE
EXRRXRUBEE-

TROMAERZz2@MEE RiEA
HBEREAMBMA 2R BAREZ
SRARRE 2 BV B RETT DT - TR
BZeBRANRMBRRERE-
HRBRZZE IR B+ — @
HAEEZ B S N IR (E -

Within
1 year
—ER
HK$’000
FHET
As at 31 December 2018 N=F—-N\E+=A=+—8H
Trade and other payables B 5 & H th & 5118 64,759
Borrowing BE 5,889
70,648
As at 31 December 2017 RZZE—tF+=-A=+—8
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENKE 59,838
Borrowing B 5,952
65,790
3.2 Capital management 3.2 EXER
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard AEBNESETERER 2REAEELE
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order BEEE  LRRRIBHEIRANAE g
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other BB ARMAT  ANESRRENER
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to HEBARIEESKA -
reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group BTHBRABRERGEE ~SBEMES
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to equity holders, return ABRSTNTIRREZBREEEE  MEREH
capital to equity holders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce ADERERRE BITHRIEEEE

debt. LURE B o
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
The gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents. Total capital is calculated as equity as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet.

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 22)
Less: borrowing (Note 25)

A E (HsE25)

Net cash e FE
Total capital B
Gearing ratio EARBELER

The Group maintained a net cash position as at 31 December
2017 and 2018, hence the gearing ratio is not applicable. There
was no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management
during the year.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried
at fair value as at 31 December 2018 by level of the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs
are categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as
follows:

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

e |nputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is,
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

e |Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is unobservable inputs) (level 3).

BHekReSFHEEAL (M22)

MEsEEEE (&)

3.2 EXEH(4)

AEEREBEERBELEHENETE
T BARBELERDREBFRBUER
BEAE - AR FREREERBRRAEER
RE2EHERE -BABBERUGREER
BRMYIERFTE -

2018 2017
—®-\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET T
71,084 67,456
(5,682) (5,952)
65,402 61,504
160,754 202,444
-40.7% -30.4%

AEER-_Z-N\FR-_Z—+tF+=
A=+ —H#&RRSFERR -FA &
SEERERH AW EEFMESD -

3.3 AREZMGEE

TREHNRFEQXAEMAEER TS
ABHERAIMAEER _F—N\F
TZA=Z+—HEAABEINRZERT
B - ABREBEAT=AAAEERS
B

e HABEHRRBERXIGRMSZ
WE(RERE) (F—H) -

o BRE-GZMEN AEE (ANWE
) A E (MR ERITE)BEN
BERBENGAE(F_R) -

o AERBENEAERILIKIER
BROTSEE (T BREAR
B) (B=4&) -
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

At 31 December, financial instruments at fair value through profit
or loss held by the Group were as follows:

Assets BE

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

- Trading securities —-RH5BEFH

/I

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.
A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions
on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1.

The carrying values of the Group’s other financial assets, which
are trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents
and financial liabilities, which are trade and other payables,
approximate to their fair values due to their short maturities.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

The Group’s buildings classified under properties, plant and
equipment are carried at fair value at reporting period end. Details
of the fair value measurement of these land and buildings are
disclosed in Note 14.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there were no transfer
of financial instruments between levels 1, 2 and 3 (2017: same).

/] 04 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1E 1R AR X T

BAREABSRSHEE

3 MBEMEE(H)
3.3 ARLEZHEE (&)

RTZA=+—RB XEEMBERLIR
B ABRRZEBTIANT:

Level 1

E—R
2018 2017
—EB-N\E —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
2,337 3,518

RE-R2@MTA

RREERTHSEENERTARRE
TRBEEER 2 TISMETR- B HRE
AAESNEMRESIZM K58 &
£ERNAL TERBEXAEEREE
5 MRERBARRATRZELET
ZEBMERTEX S A SRR
REER - AEEREEMEEZT SR
BERERZEREBE WETABRES —
o

HAEEHARE AEE s Ee@E
EMESREMEKRRERRE KR
SEERB)REREE (AEZREM
BN FIR) 2 REEEERAAERE-

RE-Fzz@MTA

BRARRKERTSEE 22T A (1
SBIMTETR) 2 R ETFRBEERM
BE - WEHEHERMEENA A BRmS
2 (A RELKBERBZEEM
H-MtBEeRTAZRAREMBZME
BERBAEHBAIEE  BlzemIAT
ANEZf-

RE=ZRz2MTA

f— AKX ZHEABAERILIFRER
BEmSHE MZemIAIAE=
o

REBEDERYE BEMRBIETTS
R|EMRIBZAAREINR - ZF L RIE
FRZRANEFHEBZFBERME14KE -

RE-T-—NF+-A=+—ALLEE
£ F-ANE=KZRIEEBT
AWEE (—F L& ER) -
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting
estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results.
Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s
accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based

on historical experience and other factors,

including expectations of

future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a)

(b)

Income taxes and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
are recognised as the management of the Group considers it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where
the expectations are different from the original estimates, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets in the
period in which such estimates have been changed.

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of properties,
plant and equipment

The management of the Group determines the estimated useful
lives, residual values and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions. The management
of the Group will increase the depreciation charge where useful
lives are less than previously estimated lives, it will write-off or
write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives; actual residual values may differ from
estimated residual values. Periodic review could result in a change
in depreciable lives and residual values and therefore depreciation
expense in the future period.

4 FASEHERFE

REMBHRRACRSHEE REEE Z
ERERIENERER -ERENFTHAE

Iﬁﬁaﬁﬁ

JEH R

HE XA B S B E S EDABELRK

HipEEARE  DIEEE AR TTEHE
BELHBLEANEASEIENAAT
o

(a) P88 RIBHE B

(b)

REBRBHBERRPBKREZ FEH -

PRSI BRI R 2E H ERHE - K
SEZREDHRBANDPHRIA 2 G
EREMNRAETEEMEEZBE i
EREEH RETIALREBHCH

SHETR - AEMEERSFEELRTE
%WZE%&EL%~MQF&EE°

FRETHREZEZRERREE RN
AEEEEERABRAESHRER
79348 M) LA P /R SR B B Z R R IR B 18
RRER A% EFRAERRMGETEE
£ ZEZRRTENMMRERZRLER
HEE HEBMATEER-

ME BERBEHEZUERAER BERE
ERAE

AEEETEEREYE BERREBRE
Er A RS RnEERAETER
X WA DRREERASRAUZY
X BEAREBZERUEAFEHZBE
EERmMIEL - AREEREBNAIEMAF
D RBEZ (AT F BRI T E R S
B S MOR R T EBRE SRR IEME
BEEILENEE BEREEFHLE
HEEAMERF B TR  BERFIRE
BTG EGBFARBREEENTRF-
EHEHTEHA TIHEFHRRSRE
BEARMEN M EBCRRRE 2T EH
XBEMmER-
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Impairment of properties, plant and equipment and land use
rights

The Group assesses annually whether properties, plant and
equipment and land use rights exhibit any indications of
impairment. The recoverable amounts, if required, are determined
based on value-in-use calculations or market valuations. These
calculations require the use of judgment and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset impairment
particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that
may indicate that the related asset value may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by
the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less costs
to dispose or net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset in the
business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow projections including whether these
cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by management in assessing
impairment, including the discount rates, could materially affect
the net present value used in the impairment test and as a result
affect the Group’s financial position and results of operations. If
there is a significant adverse change in the projected performance
and resulting future cash flow projections, it may be necessary to
take an impairment charge to the consolidated income statement.

Buildings in properties, plant and equipment carried at
valuation

Buildings in properties, plant and equipment, comprise mainly
factories and offices, are shown at fair values determined by
directors based on valuations performed by external independent
valuers on an annual basis. In arriving at the valuations, significant
judgement, assumptions and economic estimates have to be
made. The key assumptions applied in the fair value measurement
of the buildings are disclosed in Note 14.

Impairment of trade receivables

The loss allowances for trade receivables are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the
Group’s past collection history of each customer, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used
are disclosed in note 3.1(b).

/] 06 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited B = 1=RAR A T
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in garment manufacturing and trading
and securities investment.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the board of directors.

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the board
of directors of the Group. Management has determined the operating
segments based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker that are used to assess performance and allocate
resources. The chief operating decision-maker considers the business
principally from the operations nature, with two segments identified:
garment manufacturing and trading segment and securities investment
segment.

The board of directors assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of adjusted operating results. This
measurement basis represented operating loss excluding material gain
or loss which is capital in nature or of non-recurring nature such as
impairment.

The Group recognises all of its revenue at a point in time for the year

ended 31 December 2018 and there is no contract assets nor contract
liabilities as at 31 December 2018.

Revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

Wt & 53 5B & 1

AEEETEREMRKEE
& o

B UREBEHE

BESHMRRANEESREZANHRE —
B2 ABE-

REERRERBPRAEEHESTE B
BORBELIEEERKREZTHN ZRE (F
E@EWE%‘%IE&“EE%“}T)FEgLﬁﬁB T2
BERARETBNEBEMEERE WAH
M E 7 &P - RICEE R H 5 0 BDIA K 78 %&é

a0

EZeRBEARKEXEREETHEED
MzRA - BFHEELREZEHEBRIRHE
BEAMERIFLFHEEZERKEXEE
(FFME) -

AEBREBEZ_Z—/N\F+=-A=+—81t
FEZHHGANBREMGRE TARZE
—N\E+-_A=+—"BUEELNEESLED
B

RENERZREWT

2018 2017
—B-N\E T —+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Garment manufacturing and trading: RXRERE S
Sale of garment products SHE R E M 328,625 229,069
Sale of scrap materials HERRZEYIR 881 230
329,506 229,299
Securities investment: é‘%?ﬁé :
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets at A/Mﬁcﬁr)\}%ﬁnfﬂﬁz
fair value through profit or loss CRMEEALE (BB KE (1,181) 15,044
Dividend income from listed equity securities =] i MR AFSH 2 KR BWKA 188 247
(993) 15,291
328,513 244,590
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT

(Continued)

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
2018 by business segment is as follows:

Revenue

Reportable segment results

Other gains — net
Corporate administrative expenses
Impairment loss on loans to

an associate

Operating loss

Finance income

Finance expense

Share of result of an associate

Loss before income tax
Income tax expenses

Loss for the year

Reportable segment assets
Unallocated corporate assets

Total assets

Iy z&

WG D BEE

H ks —FE

DETREX

MET ML hE
ERREREE

s R

A& WA

BMERX

MG —MBE bR XA

BrPriS Bl R 1R
P8 TR X

FEBR

/] 08 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1E 1R AR X T

INFORMATION

5 WmRkaBEE (&

HE-_Z—N\F+_A=+—BLEFEER
—E-N\E+AZ+—8 REBHIBED

ZDEBERMT
Garment
manufacturing Securities
and trading investment
segment segment
BARERER
E5558 EHRE ST
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHET
329,506 (993)
1,072 (8,020)
Garment
manufacturing Securities
and trading investment
segment segment
BREER
E5558 EHERESE
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFERT FET
189,206 6,337

Total
st

HK$’000
TERT

328,513

(6,948)

211
(11,944)

(5,445)

(24,126)
394
(818)
(26,065)

(50,615)

(50,615)

Total
st

HK$’000
TET

195,543
47,472

243,015
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WERSEHEE (F)
(Continued)

@zi:g tF+ A=+ —HEFERR
—tEF+ZA=+—H BEBHHES

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
2017 by business segment is as follows:

zﬁﬁﬁﬂ@T-
Garment
manufacturing Securities
and trading investment
segment segment Total
PRI BLE &
Z 55 b BHREDE et
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FAET
Revenue Iy z& 229,299 15,291 244 590
Reportable segment results BE=a 599 6,826 7,425
Other gain — net E e —FE 3,687
Corporate administrative expenses ETHRAX (14,236)
Operating loss KB (3,124)
Finance income AhE KA 44
Finance expense RERX (175)
Share of result of an associate G —RHBEDEEE (5,723)
Share of result of a joint venture EE—RHEeELEEE (5,331)
Impairment loss on investment in R—HEEEREZ
a joint venture KREREEE (15,647)
Loss before income tax BRATSBRIEE (29,956)
Income tax expenses FrBRif & =
Loss for the year FEEE (29,956)
Garment
manufacturing Securities
and trading investment
segment segment Total
IR BLE |
B 50 BHREDE 5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
Reportable segment assets AmESBEE 172,543 8,196 180,739
Unallocated corporate assets TP EIrEXEE 95,814
Total assets mEE 276,553
Segment liabilities are measured in the same way as in the DB ERELAEVERRMERN T XGE -

=]
%E%*ETJ{" DB AR E M

consolidated financial statements. These liabilities are allocated based
on the operations of the segment.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 KERDHEF (8B
(Continued)

One (2017: One) external garment manufacturing customer contributed — B (ZE—EF: —RB)IPRRRERP
more than 10% revenue of the Group. R AREB U AB10% °

2018 2017

—EB-0\F —E—tF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Customer A BEA 319,682 219,664

The following table sets out information about the geographical location TREVWNEAAREBRERIERDEE 2

of the Group’s revenue and non-current assets. In presenting B BB R - 2H|HIHE R - DT E

the geographical information, segment revenue is based on the RONBEF Z BB - M5 FIERBE E A
geographical location of external customers and segment non-current EREEZMBME-

assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.

Revenue Non-current assets
I % EREEE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F —E-N\E§ —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET FET
United States of America xH 183,775 139,688 - -
Mainland China o B K BE - - 67,989 61,013
Europe B 102,507 63,966 - -
Hong Kong B 13,206 23,813 6,853 42,229
Rest of the World R H b b [ 29,025 17,123 - -
328,513 244,590 74,842 103,242
6 OTHER GAIN - NET 6 Hibl#s—iFH

2018 2017
—E-N\#E —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET

Losses on disposal of properties, HEME BER&EEE
plant and equipment (576) (104)
Gain on disposal of a land use right HE T AR KRR - 3,685
Government subsidy T # B - 111
Other EAh 787 (5)
211 3,687
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EXPENSES BY NATURE

Operating loss is stated after charging the following:

Raw materials used
Changes in inventories of finished goods and
work in progress
Subcontracting and processing charges
Depreciation of properties, plant and equipment
(Note 14)
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 17)
Employee benefit expense
(excluding directors’ emoluments) (Note 12)
Directors’ emoluments (Note 13)
Operating lease rentals — land and buildings
Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit services
— Non-audit services
Securities management and performance fees
Securities brokerage and transaction fees
Other

Total cost of sales, selling expenses and
administrative expenses

FINANCE EXPENSE - NET

Finance income:

Interest income on short-term bank deposits
Interest income on loan to an associate
Interest income on other loans to a third party

Finance expense:
Interest expense on bank borrowings

Finance expense — net

Notes to the Financial Statements B %% ¥ 3% ffi =

7 EMESEZAX

.
re

B 2 BT
WP RS2 RED

SPBEBEMIER

ME - BEMEBZTE
(FMizE14)

T E R (FEE17)

BERAMAY (TREEZEHS)
(FMIzE12)

EE/2 (KMIFE13)

KEHEHRS T RETF

% BB B &

—Ei R

— T RIS

BHEEBEKRRBHA

BHEELRRHER

Hith

HERA HERI R
THRAXHER

EBRELEHNR TSR T

2018
—E-N\%F
HK$’000
FHET

143,895

13,601
50,736

5,986
253

100,345
3,315
2,326

1,564
138

-
25,245

347,405

8 MIBRX-%FE

BEWA

RERITERZ A SN

ERT-—RHBECEZNEEA

By —EE=FMEMERZ
M EWA

A :
RITERZMEHX

BMEMX —FE

2018
—E—-N\F
HK$’000
FH#T

127
228

39

394

(818)

(424)

2017
—E—tF
HK$'000
TET

105,073

15,483
20,261

4,815
309

74,602
5,357
3,046

1,473
135
833

539
19,475

251,401

2017
—T—+tF
HK$’000
FHET

44

44

(175)

(131)
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9 INCOME TAX EXPENSES 9 FRHEX
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2017: BENBHIDBEF NG ERBUE T - R/
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year. The operation £16.5% (ZF—+tF:16.5% ) stz B E - &
in Mainland China is subject to Mainland China corporate income tax at EZF-)\F+ZA=Z+—HLFE HEKX
the rate of 25% for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: 25%). PR RIE2EN R (Z T —+F:25%) &
R B ATS R
The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the AEERAGRATEE ZHIREIREKALE
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate EEBERBERAZMETOREMEE 2R
applicable to losses of the consolidated entities: Fie-
2018 2017
—B-N\E T —+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHBT
Loss before income tax METS BRI AR (50,615) (29,956)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to  BLPAE IR 2 BB IRE i@ B B X
losses in the respective countries FTE 2 RIE (8,693) (6,974)
Tax effects of: MIETE:
Share of loss of an associate SME—HBECEEER 4,301 944
Share of loss of a joint venture DME—HAEELEEE - 1,333
Income not subject to tax MARB . ZBA (89) (962)
Expenses not deductible for tax I L a3 1,951 10,673
Unrecognised tax losses RERMIEEE 2,814 =
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses A AR R R IR BT 18 (284) (5,014)
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9 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 9 FieBiFAX (&
The tax charge relating to components of other comprehensive income HEMEmBRABKRITHEBNFRBERZ N
is as follows: N
2018 2017
—F-N\EF —E—tF
Before Tax After Before Tax After
Tax charge tax tax charge tax

BRBieI BIRBIX  BRBIR  KRBAT BEMAX BBE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT TERXT FEx TAET TET  TAET

Fair value gains on properties, ME HERBREY

plant and equipment RN EWE 14,006 (3,501) 10,505 4,097 (1,025) 3,072
Other comprehensive income HEa2mEUA 14,006 (3,501) 10,505 4,097 (1,025) 3,072
Deferred tax (Note 23) RIER (Mi7E23) (3,501) (1,025)

10 LOSS PER SHARE 10 BIRESE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable ERENBEBEDREBERNA I EREE AES
to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number EBRBRUAFAS BT ERRE 2 METY
of ordinary shares in issue during the year. Diluted loss per share HAE - BRESEBEBRSMBETE S
is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares MEBRDEBRNBERLT  LRABELBEARM
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential shares. As BEHEAE -AREBEE=ZE—\F+=A
there is no dilutive potential ordinary shares for the years ended 31 =+t BREBEE-_ZT—tF+=-A=+—H
December 2018 and 2017, the diluted loss per share equals the basic LWEFE - AR BN S T AR R

loss per share. EEEERERERERE-
2018 2017
—E-N\#E ZE—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company AR Al#E 1B A (L EE (50,615) (29,956)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares ERTERRARE 2 kT E

in issue (thousands) (FA) 818,042 818,042
Basic and diluted loss per share BREAREEER (FREMWL)

(HK cents per share) (6.19) (3.66)

Annual Report 2018 FE & /] 1 8
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11 DIVIDENDS 11 &8
The Company has not declared any dividends for the years ended 31 ARRTERBE_ZE—NFR_ZT—tF
December 2018 and 2017. +ZA=t+t-—BLEEZRE-

12 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (EXCLUDING 12 GERFIBEZ (FEIEEEHE)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHBT

Wages and salaries Fe ke 85,318 69,753

Bonus ®"e 9,434 -

Pension costs RIKE KA

- Hong Kong —&% 244 300

— People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) —HEARLRMBE ([FEH]) 5,349 4,549

100,345 74,602

No forfeited contributions to the mandatory provident fund scheme (the FRTEFSADRURBIERESEE ([58

“MPF Scheme”) were utilised during the year (2017: Nil). BaAE)HR(ZT—+F &) -

There was no contribution payable in relation to the MPF Scheme at RERETEBBABSTEZEMER(Z

the year end (2017: Nil). T—tF |

The Group operates/participates in the following pension and post REBET ZENTREKS MEKERE:

retirement plans:

() The MPF Scheme for employees in Hong Kong, under which the () AEBEEMBZABSHENTE ~E
Group and its employee each make a monthly contribution to the ErEEESHYEREEBAERARZ
scheme at 5% of the qualifying earnings of the employee, subject 5%MErEIEE AR EEAHAKE L
to a monthly cap of HK$1,500. MR A&1,50058 7T °

(i) The Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China contribute (i) AEERFEAEZHBARIZEEER
approximately 10% of the basic salaries of their employees to NE S #I10%][A T BUR &% 3 2 R KT &
retirement schemes operated by municipal governments. Other B 2 B3R o BRog HIl 1 3R - REE I
than the mandatory contributions, the Group has no further EEMEERKRS SGRNERRF) 2 -
obligations for the actual pension payments or any post retirement ZERKRHEEBELMENTRKES
benefits. The retirement schemes are responsible for the entire ZIRIREFIE o LI R BIRRE 2 5
pension obligations payable to retired employees. In addition, g5 EEENEEERRNBBATLL
according to the labor law in Mainland China, the employer IMAEES  BIZEREE I HRIKER -

is required to pay retirement benefits to the employees when
employment is terminated by the employer before the normal
retirement date.

/] 1 4 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1E 1R AR X T
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13 BENEFIT AND INTEREST OF THE DIRECTORS 13 EEEARER
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERRBTBAESNE

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is set BESRESTBRABZMETEHNAT
out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2018: HE_Z-N\EF+_A=+—HILFE:
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as REARRAIREMBARESREZ
a director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking: ATERSKERZHE :

Estimated

money value  Employer’s
of other  contribution
Housing benefits  to the MPF

Name of Director EEit® Fees Salary Bonus  allowance (Note i) Scheme Total
HibiEHZ
&R
BE HHEeHE
fig il ®e REZK (&£ ) FE3:EA st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx Thx T T#xn TEL TR Thx

Chairman 7
Mr Li Haifeng TEREE 120 1,830 - - - 18 1,968
Executive director HTEZE
Mr Wang Ke THxE
(Appointed on 19 March 2018)  (R=Z—-N\%
AT BEZHE) 204 408 - - - 15 627
Non-executive director FHITEE
Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James ~ Z¥ &L 240 - - - - - 240

Independent non-executive BUHHTEE

directors
Mr Yau Wing Yiu BxEEE 240 - - - - - 240
Mr Zhang Zhenyi RERLE 120 - - - - - 120
Ms Zheng Xianzhi PrERt 120 - - - - - 120

1,044 2,238 - - - 33 3,315

Annual Report 2018 FE R /] 1 5
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13 BENEFIT AND INTEREST OF THE DIRECTORS 13 EERARLHERS (8

(Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as
a director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:

Name of Director ESHA Fees Salary Bonus

e il ®e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TARL TARL

Chairman IE
Mr Li Haifeng FEELE
(Appointed as chief (RZF—t%F
executive on 1 April 2017) NA-REZEAR
BITHAER) 120 1,620 -
Executive directors HITEE
Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James ~ ZH#EE
(Re-designated to non- (RZB—t%
executive director on MA—R#BIE
1 April 2017) RIBTES) 28 707 =
Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie HERLE
(Ceased appointment on (RZT-N\%E
1 January 2018) —A—A&LER) 120 1,444 =
Non-executive director FHTEE
Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James ~ ZHH%EE
(Re-designated on (RZT—t%F
1 April 2017) mA—AHAE) 180 - -
Indepencent non-executiie  BUFHTEE
directors
Mr Liu Run (Resigned on EEE
30 June 2017) (RZB—+£&
AAZTREE) 60 - -
Ms Su Zhengyu BRIFat
(Resigned on (R=Z—tF=A
24 March 2017) ZTEAER) 27 = =
Mr Yau Wing Yiu BRI 240 - -
Mr Zhang Zhenyi REELE
(Appointed on (R=F—t%
24 March 2017) ZAZtRAEZA) 93 = =
Ms Zheng Xianzhi BEBRL
(Appointed on (RZZ—t%
30 June 2017) ~NAZTREZE) 60 = =
928 3,771 -

1 1 6 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited B = 1=RAR A T

(a) EERRETHAENS (&

BE-T—tF+-AS+—ALFE:

REERARFLEMBARNEETRE
ALTENHENZME:

Estimated
money value  Employer’s
of other  contribution

Housing benefits  to the MPF
allowance (Note ) Scheme Total
HiERH 2
g%
BE wESHE
BEZH (MEE ) BEHER &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TARL THL THL TAL

= = 18 1,758

540 29 = 1,304

= 53 18 1,635

= = = 240

540 82 36 5,357



Notes to the Financial Statements B %% ¥ 3% ffi =

13 BENEFIT AND
(Continued)

INTEREST OF THE DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued) (a)
(i)  Other benefits include leave pay and share option benefits
and housing allowances.

During the year, no director has waived any emoluments (2017:
Nil).
(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

(b)

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
(c) Five highest paid individuals (c)
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include one (2017: three) director whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments payable to the remaining four (2017: two) individuals
during the year are as follows:

EXFe FEZM-
H A2 85 R B WM &=
S TE & AT Bl R

Basic salaries, housing allowances,
other allowances and benefits-in-kind
Contributions to the MPF Scheme

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

He#HE

500,0007% 7£-999,999/% 7T
1,000,000/% 7t-1,499,9997% 7T
1,500,000/ 7T—1,999,9997% JT

Emolument bands

HK$500,000 — HK$999,999
HK$1,000,000 - HK$1,499,999
HK$1,500,000 - HK$1,999,999

(i)

13 ESEMRER (])

EERESTTRAESNE (&

HiEiemasREERkERN
KEERR-

RERN BEEERETAMS(ZF
—tFE)

EERXS RUHESHZEXES

AR EEMERARR K EEMHE
REFIZMEREBEBBEEANBFR
B EHE RE R F RE R DA
BR2Z5 BRGNP ERRERE
BEXRHM#H-

IEmEHMAL

FR - AEEZAEREFHALEE—
B(ZE—+F ZH)BE HEZH
SER YR R FREMNTER
TOR(ZZE—t:MB)ALTZEH e
T

2018 2017

—E-N\FE B4

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

5,596 1,681

53 36

5,649 1,717

eEENT :
Number of individuals
A8

2018 2017

—E-N\F B4 F

- 2

2 -

2 -

Annual Report 2018 FE R /] 1 7
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14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At 1 January 2017
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2017

Opening net book amount
Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

Currency translation differences
Revaluation surplus

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2017
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2018

Opening net book amount
Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

Currency tranglation differences
Revaluation surplus

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2018
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net book amount

RZE—+F—-f-H
KA EE
ZAAERRE

IREFE

HE-S—+%
TZAZ+-BLLERE
BORETE
AE
e
e
ERER
EHAES

HRREHE

RZF—+E+-A=1-H
AR IEE
2 RERRE

(REFE

BE-Z-)\%
TZAZT-HLFRE
BNREHE
WE
&
nE
EXEE
EffRH

HRREHE

RZE-N\E+ZA=1+—AH
KRR E
2HFERAME

REFE

/] 1 8 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1E 1R AR X T

Buildings

#r
HK$'000
TEn

42,556

42,556

42,556

(3,503)
1375
4,097

44,525

44,525

44,525

44,525
275
(155)
(3,918)
(869)
14,006

53,864

53,864

53,864

14 ME - -BERRE

Leasehold
improvements

RERE
HK$'000
TR
26,241

(22,212)

4,029

4,029
2
(49)
(508)
198

3,700

27,640

(23,940)

3,700

3,700

786

(422)

(485)
(775)

2,804

26,742

(23,038)

2,804

Plant and
machinery

RERKE
HK$'000
TR

19,297

(18,765)
532

532
218

(19)
57

852
20,073
20,121)

8562

852
81

(26)
(158)

749

20,098

(19,349)

749

Furniture,
office
equipment,
vessel and
motor vehicles
RE-HAZ
R e
RKE
HK$'000
TEL

28,457

(25,311)

3,146

3,146
311

(76)

(789)
221

2,813

29,883

(27,070)

2,813

2,813
7,62
@)
(1,557)
(235)

8,280

36,053

(27,773)

8,280

Total

&t
HK$'000
TR
116,551

(66,288)

50,263

50,263
615
(121)
(4,815)
1851
4,097

51,890

123,021

(71,131)

51,890

51,890
8,404
(580)
(5,986)
(2,037)
14,006

65,697

136,757

(71,060)

65,697



Notes to the Financial Statements B %% ¥ 3% ffi =

14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Depreciation of HK$2,000 (2017: HK$51,000) has been expensed
to selling expenses and HK$5,984,000 (2017: HK$4,764,000) has
been expensed to administrative expenses. No depreciation has been
expensed to cost of goods sold (2017: same).

If buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would
be as follows:

Cost AR
Accumulated depreciation 2F e
Net book amount REFE

The Group’s properties were revalued at 31 December 2018 by Vigers
Appraisal and Consulting Limited, an independent professionally
qualified valuer who holds a recognised relevant professional
qualification and has recent experience in the locations and segments
of the properties valued. For all buildings, their current use equates to
the highest and best use.

The Group’s finance department includes a team that review the
valuations performed by the independent valuer for financial reporting
purposes. This team reports directly to the board of directors.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the
valuation team and valuer annually.

The revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred income taxes was
credited to fixed assets revaluation reserve in shareholders’ equity.

Valuations were made with reference to depreciated replacement cost
approach based on significant unobservable inputs.

14 Y% -HERRE (&)

WEE DRI ER X X 2,000 7T (=
T —+F:51,0008 70) RRTTH A X X
5,984,000/ 7t (= F — £ : 4,764,000/
L) cRIERAT ELH (ZT—CF
) e

B FIRE L AR HSBMT

2018 2017
—F-N\EF —E—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
36,816 38,579
(18,576) (17,949)
18,240 20,630

FEBZYMEER_ZE-—N\E+A=+—
BB HES KRG EMBAR T EERT R
BRARAREMGE  ZEEMFFERD
ZABEEER - AH P EYE 2 R E
BBEAMHER - BRMERTME EAlZ
ERERAEERR&EER-

REBPBERE @A BEERMBERS
B 69 %198 L B A 2 R BT IR AT © st/
ERMEFSER - GENMEGEMSFH
Al ER R AR -

EfRESMRERELERER It ABRRE
SR ZEEEEERRE-

HEDZERERERAE  HRBEERNTA
BREzZBABRMESL-

Annual Report 2018 FEE % /] 1 9
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14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The following table analyses buildings carried at fair value, by valuation

method.

At 31 December 2018

At 31 December 2017

The recurring fair value measurements for buildings are included in
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the
date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

The movement of buildings stated at fair value using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3) is as follows:

At 1 January

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

Net gains from fair value adjustment
Currency translation differences

At 31 December

Quoted prices
in active
markets

for identical
assets

(Level 1)
HE&ER
TREBTHIEZ
HRE(E—R)
HK$’000
FTET

R-ZBE-NF+ZR=+—H -

R-ZE—tF+-A=+—~H -

14 W% -BWERRE (&)

TRAGEZEDITIRAAREIRZET -

Significant
other
observable
inputs

(Level 2)
HhEXTHRE
ZEANER
(FE=4)
HK$’000
FERT

Significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
EXTOHE
ZEANEH
(E=8R)
HK$’000
THET

53,864

44,5625

BFZREUERAEFERBERAAES
BE=M2Z2AN - FEEBRASNERERE
HEERBERELER  BR
BARBEBY FRNE—R - F_RRE=H2
Faﬁﬁﬁ@% °

RREFRZ

BEREANABRZBAEZR (=)

EZRARERVZETEHWT:

R—A—H

NE

HE

e
ARAEHAEELEZFRE
I EH

R+=—RAR=+—8H

/] 20 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1E 1R AR X T

Buildings
gF

2018 2017
—B-N\E T —+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
44,525 42,556
275 —
(155) =
(3,918) (8,503)
14,006 4,097
(869) 1,375
53,864 44,525



Notes to the Financial Statements B %% ¥ 3% ffi =

14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 14 V¥ -BERRE (S

In other comprehensive income, fair value gain of properties, plant and
equipment, net of tax comprise:

Net gains from fair value adjustment NAERBEE 2 F N
Deferred tax (Note 23) BIEFTISHL (MI3E23)

REMEEBRAR DE BEERREBIAR
Bz MR HIABLE:

Total fair value gains for the year included in other s AEMEEWAZEFERNARE

comprehensive income, net of tax @ MREE

The details of significant unobservable inputs are as follows:

Unobservable inputs Range of unobservable inputs
FEHBRZEANER FOHRZHMANERZEE
Construction costs per square meter RMB1,540 per square meter (2017:

RMB1,170 per square meter) for
— Based on the type of building structure steel structure and RMB1,705

(steel structure/reinforced concrete per square meter (2017:
structure) and taking into account RMB1,350 per square meter) for
market data on current construction reinforced concrete structure

costs for similar properties located in
nearby cities
B FORBEK AR MAEBRETFHARKARK,5407T
TE—EFBFIRARK
—RBEFEBEL (MEEH5RE 1,17070) " #HBRB T &EERET
TR WEt RAIR AT 2 B FHARARKEL 705 (ZF—+

EEMEERAzTIHER F:B8FHARKARE,3507T)
Economic life of buildings 40 years for steel structure and 50
years for reinforced concrete
— Taking into account the estimated structure (2017: same)

useful life of buildings depending on
the building structure (steel structure/
reinforced concrete structure)
BFEZEBES® WA R40F AR TEB A
50F (ZE—tF: #HR)
— S RBBREFEBED (B 5
BELTEE) CBFHEGRAIEREH

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year.
Certain buildings with carrying amounts of HK$28,359,000 (2017:

HK$23,441,000) were used to secure for the Group’s bank borrowing
as at 31 December 2018 (Note 25).

2018 2017
—F-N\EF —E—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
14,006 4,097
(3,501) (1,025)
10,505 3,072

EATABRZGAERHIIMT -

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

FEUBRRZHAERRAREZHE

The higher the construction cost per
square meter, the higher the fair value

BYIARERAYES  ARAEHM

it

The longer the useful life, the higher the
fair value

AERFHER ARELER

FAMEXMEEZS -

RZFE—N\F+-_A=+—H BEFTREE
428,359,000/ 7T ( —=ZF —+4F : 23,441,000
BT MIEFWRERAEERITERMNERR
(Fff3x25) °

Annual Report 2018 FE & /] 2 /I
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15 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

(a)

Investment in an associate

In July 2017, the Group completed the acquisition of 41.45%
equity interest in Exellar Limited (formerly known as United
Security Solutions International Limited) (“Exellar”) for a
consideration of US$4,101,615 (approximately HK$31,992,597).
Goodwill of HK$5,850,000 was included in investment in an
associate at 31 December 2017.

Exellar and its subsidiaries (“Exellar Group”) was principally
engaged in the provision of global risk management solutions and
security services. As a result of the significant deterioration of the
performance of Exellar Group due to the loss of a major customer
contract during the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s
share of result of this associate amounted to HK$26,065,000
for the year ended 31 December 2018, effectively bringing the
carrying value of the investment to zero as of 31 December 2018.

As at 1 January mn—HA—H
Acquisition W kg

Share of loss DEER
Currency translation difference X =5
As at 31 December R+=ZRA=+—H

The Group’s management relied on the financial information
provided by management of Exellar to account for the result of
Exellar shared by the Group and to assess the impairment of its
investment in and loans to Exellar. However, current management
of Exellar did not have access to, and therefore they were not
able to provide to the Group, a set of complete and accurate
accounting records.

/] 22 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1E 1R AR X T

15 R—REBEEE2ZRE

(a) R—EBEEEZIRA

RZZT—+Ft+tA AEEERKES
BEBRRKREAER AR (51T 5 4% 5K
HEBBRERBREEBERAR) ([A%])
Z241.45% Mk HE - KB B4,101,6153%
JC (#981,992,5078 L) cR - T —+F
+TZAZt+—HB R—HEBLEcEIRE
B ¥E R £ 55,850,000 T ©

EREENBAR ([A5%E®E])FZR
ERHEHEREELRTRRE -BE—
TE-NF+ZA=Z+—HLEFE BHRE
ZEFAHNKEMERAREEBRT
gz -#Hz—_2—\F+-_A=+—
BILFE AEEIEZHECEZER
/26,065,000 T - HE_T—\F+=
A=+—H BHtEEENIREERS

FEo
=

2018 2017
—®-\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
26,065 -

- 31,993

(26,065) (5,723)

- (205)

- 26,065

AEEEEERESREREEERMH
W BT A RS AR B D15 A R BIFR ) 2
BAMNR - WA RER 2 IRE Reft
FTERERZEFWBE - AT 4R
BREMMEREYE -—ExBRERY
SEIRE WEZAAKEREZEIR
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15 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 15 R—EBELEZRE (&)
(a) Investment in an associate (Continued) (a) R—EBELEZRE (&)
Details of the Group’s investment in an associate as at 31 AEEBRZZE-—NF+ZA=+—HBR
December 2018 are as follows: —EMECEZIREFIWNT
Summarised balance sheet HEEEAMEX
Country of % of ownership Measurement
Name of entity Principal activities incorporation interest method
TtEEE EEERB &F fH BE 3L 3h B EmEsk EFE

Shares held indirectly:

BERAZED:
Exellar Limited Provision of global risk Hong Kong 41.45% Equity
(formerly United Security management solutions
Solutions International
Limited)
ERBEFERARFRABRAR  REDRERERRE B %
( AT 78 /% 44 B8 Bt & BIBR L B
EBARLDA)
USSGRP Singapore Provision of global risk Singapore 41.45% Equity
Pte. Limited management solutions
R 2 R e IR AR A N3k %
Unity Resources Group Provision of global risk Singapore 33.16% Equity
Pte. Limited management solutions
R 2 AR E R RS EIWIlIEd A
As the associate is a private entity, there is no quoted price ARZEECEAILEER A WET
available. fa] A] FA A SR AE -

Annual Report 2018 FE R /] 28
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15 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

(@) Investment in an associate (Continued)

Set out below are the summarised financial information of an
associate which is accounted for using equity method.

Summarised balance sheet

Current
Assets
Current liabilities

Non-current
Assets
Liabilities

Total identifiable net (liabilities)/assets
Non-controlling interests

HE
BE
BfE

EA )]
BE
BE

AT (AE) EERE
FEPEGI M RS

1 24 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited B = 1=RAR A T

156 R—EBELEZRE (F)

() R—EBEEEZRE (K)

BEREAR —HBECEZRHEN

BERIT
HWELEEEREX
2018
—F-N\EF

HKS$’000
FERT

37,575
(47,461)

(9,886)

34
(2,127)

(2,093)

(11,979)
(5,261)

(17,240)

2017
—E—+F
HK$’'000
FHBT

40,828
(42,910)

(2,082)

64,993
(5,489)

59,504

57,422
(8,652)

48,770
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15 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

(a)

Investment in an associate (Continued)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

Revenue
Depreciation
Expenses

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total loss for the year

Attributable to:
- the Group
— non-controlling interest

Total loss for the year

There were no commitment and contingent liabilities relating to
the Group’s interest in an associate as at 31 December 2018 and

2017.

Wz
e
Fl s

HNEE
Hisra A

HHINER

BB
—A&E
—IEiR I e

BEEER

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Opening net assets as at 1 January/
acquisition date
Non-controlling interest

Opening net assets acquired
as at 1 January/acquisition date

Loss for the year/period attributable to the
Group

Other comprehensive income

Closing net assets

Interest in an associate @ 41.45%
Unrecognised share of loss of an associate
Goodwill

Carrying value

15 R—EBEEEZREA (K)
(a) R—RBELEZRE (&)

HEFE WA *

2018
—E—-N\F
HK$’000
FHET

158,309
(3,537)
(226,673)

(71,901)

(71,901)

(68,510)
(3,391)

(71,901)

2017
T —tF
HK$’000
FHET

76,146
(5,471)
(84,481)

(13,806)

(13,806)

(13,367)
(439)

(13,806)

R-_E-—NFER_ZT—ttF+_-A
R AEER—HBECEIRE

WEAERIABE-
THERBEH ZHE

2018
—E-N\%F
HK$’000
FH#T

R—A—B/WBEAZHNFEE

57,422
FE4% Il 1 FE 2 (8,652)
R—A—B/KEBZERBEHNF
BE 48,770
EERAREZFE /HANERE
(68,510)
His2EEA 2,500
HRFEE (17,240)
R—EEEPEER @ 41.45% (7,146)
RAEREL—HEHECEZER 7,146

Bk

1R &

2017
—E—tF
HK$'000
TET

68,890
(9,091)

59,799

(13,367)
2,338

48,770

20,215

5,850

26,065
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15 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

(b) Loans to an associate

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has
advanced three loans totalling US$673,000 (equivalent to
HK$5,217,000) to Exellar. These loans are unsecured, bear
interest at 8% — 10% per annum and are repayable within one
year. Considering that Exellar Group is at a net liability position as
at 31 December 2018, the Group has made a full provision against
these three loans together with accumulated interest, amounted to

HK$5,445,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018.

16 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

15 R—EBEER2RE (§)
(b) EHF—HBELE

BHE-_Z—/\F+-_A=+—HLFE"
AEEDMERIEH =585 /2673,000
X7t (HBERS5,217,0008 7T ) BIE K - Itk
LRI AERF FHEAEI%-10%
THE—FRAEE-ZFEINARERN=
E-NFE+_A=Z+—BERFEEMN
N AREBERZ=_FERERZFF L
EH>ERE BEZE - N\E+=-A
=+ —HIEFE S5 HE5,445,0008 7T °

16 R—EEELEXZRE

2018 2017

—F-N\F —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FAT

At 1 January Hn—HA—H - 20,978
Share of loss DEEE - (5,331)
Impairment A - (15,647)
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H - -

Details of the Group’s joint venture as at 31 December 2018 are as

follows:

Place of business/
Name of entity

EEEH

Shares held indirectly:
MERE

Phoenix Cloud (Beijing)
Technologies Company Limited*

PRC, limited liability by
share company

BEZE (7)) Bk REARLAME
BRAF B in BIR A A

For identification purpose

As the joint venture is a private entity, there is no quoted price

available.

/] 26 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 2R G R 7

country of incorporation

BB RE M AR R

R-ZB-N\F+-A=+—-HAEHZE¥
REFIMT

% of ownership Measurement

Principal activities interest method
EEER BEETH FEHE
Sale and development 24.75% Equity

of smart card

application products

in Mainland China
R BEKEREHE & Bk

Mg REREM

EHH5
MNEZALEER/LEER RSB RI AN

2
HE

o
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16 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

Set out below are the summarised financial information of a joint

venture which is accounted for using equity method.

Summarised balance sheet

Current
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets
(excluding cash and cash equivalents)

Total current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current
Assets

Net liabilities

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

Revenue
Depreciation
Expenses

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Total loss for the year

BREREANRZ — A%
wanTr

BESEERR
2018
—E-N\EF
HK$’000
FHET
P n.iﬂ
RekBESEEEE 1,908
REEE
(TEERS kESEEER) 828
BREE E 2,736
mEAE (9,044)
FEFE
BE -
FaE (6,308)
BEZABANERE
2018
—F-)N\%F
HK$’000
FHET
U 2% 10,997
e (93)
f > (16,354)
FEEE (5,450)
HmAalA (EiE) 302
RFEEEHE (5,148)

16 R—EEELEZIRE (F)

TCREZHEWBE

2017
—E—tF
HK$’000
FHET

903

9,280

10,183

(11,488)

145

(1,160)

2017

—E—tF

HK$'000
THT

4,053
(126)
(25,465)

(21,538)
(79)

(21,617)
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16 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

There were no commitment and contingent liabilities relating to the
Group’s interests in a joint venture as at 31 December 2018.

16 R—REEEEEZHRE (F)

RZB-N\F+_A=+—H0 x&EER—MH
BECEIZREYEAERKAGE -

Reconciliation of summarised financial information HEMBER Z A
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Opening net (liabilities)/assets as at 1 January R—A—BZH8WEFE (&E8) L& (1,160) 20,457
Loss for the year FEEE (5,450) (21,538)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Htv2EEKA S (EE) 302 (79)
Closing net liabilities HRFAR’ (6,308) (1,160)
Interest in a joint venture @ 24.75% R—EEELEERZ @ 24.75% (1,561) (287)
Goodwill [EES - 17,935
Currency translation difference X =5 - (2,001)
Unrecognised share of loss of a joint venture AERELH—HAELEZEIE 1,561 =
Impairment B - (15,647)

1REE

Carrying value

17 LAND USE RIGHTS

The Group’s land use rights represent prepaid operating lease
payments and their net book values are analysed as follows:

17 T (s FAHE

AREEz THERERRBNEEHERER
HIREDFEDTOT -

2018 2017

—E-N\#E e

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET F&T

Balance as at 1 January R—A—Hz#&&#% 9,881 12,849
Amortisation of prepaid operating lease payments ¥ §4 78 1 & & FH & 0B (253) (309)
Disposal of a land use right & & - (3,384)
Currency translation differences E R Z=%8 (483) 725
Balance as at 31 December R+=-—A=+—Rz#&% 9,145 9,881

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group had disposed
a land use right located in Mainland China with a carrying amount of
HK$3,384,000 to the Mainland China government with proceed of
HK$7,069,000, resulting in a gain on disposal of a land use right of
HK$3,685,000 (Note 6).

Certain land use right with carrying amount of HK$5,367,000 (2017:

HK$5,799,000) was used to secure the Group’s bank borrowing as at
31 December 2018 (Note 25).
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BHE-_Z—+F#+-_A=+—HItEE K&
& LA7,069,0005% 7Tt & 7 7A HF B K BE IR T (B
3,384,000/ 7T H) 1 1o (5 3 #E 45 P B K BE IR
FF - A T #18.3,685,00058 7T 2 & + i {E A
Wz (MiEE6) °

RZB-N\E+ZA=+—H HBHIKAE
435,367,000/ 7T ( —F — % : 5,799,000
TT) B 13 R AR {E AN SR IR B ARV K
e (FHEE25) °
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18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 18 RERIZE&M IR
The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEERFBEUTEHIA:
Financial
Financial assets at
assets at fair value
amortised through Total
cost profit or loss
R BARE
RAFIRZ sTAEREIRZ
SREE SREE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET
Financial assets SREE
31 December 2018 R-E—-NE+=-A=+—H
Trade and other receivables excluding KBENZKEZES K
prepayments H fh fE WK IR 32,507 - 32,507
Financial assets at fair value through RARBERABREZ
profit or loss EREE - 2,337 2,337
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEEE 71,084 - 71,084
103,591 2,337 105,928
31 December 2017 RZZE—+tF+=RA=+—H
Trade and other receivables excluding KBENZKEZES K
prepayments H A fE WK IR 62,180 = 62,180
Financial assets at fair value through RARBERABREZ
profit or loss SREE - 3,518 3,518
Cash and cash equivalents RehBE£FEHEHE 67,456 - 67,456
129,636 3,518 133,154
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18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 18 BERIZEMTI R (&)
(Continued)

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
R
RAFIIRZ
=R
HK$’000
THET
Financial liabilities LRIEE
31 December 2018 R-ZE—NFE+=ZA=+—H
Trade and other payables B REMEMNKE 64,759
Borrowing BX 5,682
70,441
31 December 2017 RZZE—+F+=-A=+—H
Trade and other payables B 5 & H th fE S 518 59,838
Borrowing B3 5,952
65,790
19 INVENTORIES 19 &BE&
2018 2017
—E-N\%F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Raw materials JR % 8,575 12,607
Work in progress B R 30,058 25,706
Finished goods UK 21,196 11,947
59,829 50,260
The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in cost BRERIRFAEENACTFEXNEN A
of goods sold amounted approximately HK$157,496,000 (2017: 157,496,000 7T ( =& —+t 4 : 120,556,000
HK$120,556,000). BIT) o
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20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2018
—E-N\E

Current  Non-current

e ERE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Trade receivables B SR 24,810 -

Other receivables Hi IR 6,999 -

Other loan HtE® - -

Deposits Re 698 -
Financial assets at R P AR TIIR

amortised cost JEBEE 7,697 =

Prepayments B HIE 2,416 =
Total trade and B o REMER

other receivables HEBEE 34,923 =

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying
amounts is considered to be the same as their fair values. For the non-
current deposits, the fair values are also not significantly different to
their carrying amounts.

Majority of the Group’s trade receivable are with credit terms ranging
from 30 to 45 days. The ageing of trade receivables based on invoice
date, is as follows:

Within 30 days 308/

31-60 days 31-60H
61-90 days 61-90H
Over 90 days B0 H

20 ES R HfthEWRIE

2017

—T—tF
Total Current Non-current Total
@t Vo) k) @it
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET AT THL FET
24,810 42,142 - 42,142
6,999 7,839 - 7,839
- - 11,423 11,423
698 121 655 776
7,697 7,960 12,078 20,038
2,416 1,975 3,328 5,303
34,923 52,077 15,406 67,483

mBEEFRREEREE  HEREERR
REREE - FRBEEZAARBEEREELZ
ERTK-

REB AR DB 5 R FKIAZEE RN F30
E45H -EHRURBRER A ZIRE D
ran T :

2018 2017

et A =T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET
16,699 28,284
8,087 10,233

- 2,848

24 7

24,810 42,142
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20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The ageing of trade receivables past due but not considered to be
impaired is shown below. These past due receivables relate to a
number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history
of default.

Within 30 days 308K

31-60 days 31-60H
61-90 days 61-90H
Over 90 days B0 H

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was the
carrying amount of trade receivables mentioned above. The Group did
not hold any collateral as security.

The other receivables generally arise from transactions outside the
usual operating activities of the Group. Collateral is not obtained.

The carrying amounts of the trade and other receivables excluding
prepayments were denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ ot
RMB AR
uss$ e

/] 82 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 2R G R 7

20 B RHMEWKRIE (48

EEEMERAR A ERE 2 B SRR R
NT-HEERPREARBESRZEABLE

P B BN S R KA 8% -

2018
—F-N\F
HK$’000
FHET

6,401

6
18

6,425

2017
—E—tF
HK$’000
FHET

10,048
3,338
34

13,420

REBiERzESEERRR LME SRR
IR Z WRTE{E - A5 B3 A5 A (E A E IR m 1

-

HMBEYFE - REEAREAELLLD

SN2 X B < IR 3 K EAS o

BRIEA TRIA 2 B 5 FE W I E i B M 5ROR 2 R

EETIAT I EEIE:

2018
—F-N\EF
HK$’000
FHET

1,698
5,909
24,900

32,507

2017
—E—tF
HK$’000
FHET

2,049
6,445
53,686

62,180
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21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

Equity investments that are held for trading include the following:

Hong Kong listed equity securities

Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are recorded in “revenue” in the consolidated income statement

with losses of HK$1,181,000 (2017: gains of HK$15,044,000).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss was denominated
in HK$ (2017: same) and are presented within “operating activities”
as part of changes in working capital in the consolidated cash flows

statement (Note 28).

The fair values of all equity securities are based on their current bid
prices in an active market and the Group are exposed to price risk

(Note 3).

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at banks and in hand

The Group’s bank balances of HK$5,304,000 (2017: HK$3,598,000)
were deposited with banks in the Mainland China. The remittance
of these funds out of the Mainland China is subject to the exchange

control restrictions imposed by the Mainland China government.

REE LT 2 RAE S

RITRFERAE

21

22

BRAREFAERIRZEMEE

BIEXZHNBEREBEAT

2018 2017
—®-0\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FTAT
2,337 3,518

EAABFAEBRECZEREEZAR
BEH Wit AR ARE 2 =]
1,181,000 T2 EBE(Z 2 —tF:
15,044,000/ L2 W2k ) °

BARBEFABRIRZEREENBEIIE
(ZZ2—tF B ERRTEEEH]I AL
I ERBERBRNEEESESH 2 — 8N
(Ht7E28) ©

FBRAR S 2 AAEYALR R ZKF R
MmiEZHEEAEE  AEBERME S BERER
(K=E3) -

HeERRLEFEEH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHBT
71,084 67,456

RE B 7 R1T# 45,304,000 7T (—ZF—+
£ 13,598,000/ 7T ) B 7 AR B K FE 2 3R
17 o It EE £ 18 b Bl KRR ZA = B b B K B
BT B HE 2 SNE BE 4 FTIR 4 o
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22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

The carrying amount of the cash and cash equivalents were

denominated in the following currencies:

HK$
RMB
Us$
Others

23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

BT
AR
ey
Hity

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal
authority. As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, no deferred income tax

assets and liabilities were offset.

Deferred income tax liabilities

EREFEHRAR

1 84 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited B = 1=RAR A T

22 HERBEFEEFE (F)

RekReSEBABZKREABEILIUATIES

FIME :

2018
—E-N\%F
HK$’000
FH#T

17,814
5,366
47,852
52

71,084

23 IREFTIFH

2017
—E—tF
HK$'000
TET

49,639
3,598
14,161
58

67,456

EREZENRITHMNEEHHBEEEREH
HEBEEHE BECMBH S RRE—F K
W AR IEEFRGREERABRHRE R
—E-NER-_ZET—+E+-_A=+—8 -
WEKHECFHESHEERAE-

2018
—E-N\%F
HK$’000
F#ET

11,820

2017
—E—tF
HK$'000
FTET

8,319
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23 BEFTRH (&

FRAZEEMBHRAGRESHMT

23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

The movement in deferred income tax liabilities during the year is as

follows:
Fair value
gains of
buildings
BFz
A5 E =
HK$’000
FHET
Balance as at 1 January 2017 RZE—tF—A—HzZ#&&% 7,294
Debited to equity PAHE &= fNBR 1,025
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+tF+=-A=+—H 8,319
Balance as at 1 January 2018 RZZE—N\F—A—B2&E% 8,319
Debited to equity R R 3,501
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\FE+=-A=+—H 11,820

BEMBREEESN BB IHRBNSER
BEBBARRERVEFEHR  pLAEFE
BEBER - ARRAETAESAIETCHER
BE AEBEWERERYS K141,257,000%8 7T
—F—+:131,371,0008 L) 2 EiE 2
BT P15 5 8 EE28,222,0008 T (Z B —+
126,778,000 7T ) B Al A 82 A DA 8H
& FERBUA - 25T IEE1883,443,000/8
T (=—Z—+4:71,348,000/8 7T ) A] £ R HA
2 M IEE 857,815,000 T (=T —+
% 160,023,000 ) R A T FERE 8 :

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-
forwards to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit
through the future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not
recognise deferred income tax assets of HK$28,222,000 (2017:
HK$26,778,000) in respect of losses amounting to HK$141,257,000
(2017: HK$131,371,000) that can be carried forward against future
taxable income because their utilisation is not considered probable.
Cumulative tax losses of HK$83,443,000 (2017: HK$71,348,000)
can be carried forward indefinitely while tax losses of HK$57,815,000
(2017: HK$60,023,000) will expire as follows:

2018 2017
—B-0\fF —T—tF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHBTT

Expiring in AT & E A B R
2018 ZE-N\F - 7,612
2019 —E-NF 7,067 7,403
2020 22,402 23,469
2021 20,560 21,539
2022 - _
2023 7,786 =
Total P 57,815 60,023
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24 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables

B 5 H0R

24 B REMEMRIE

2018
—F-N\F
HK$’000
FHET

38,209

Consideration payable for acquisition of an associate &1 U 88 — R B & b % 2 (B -

Accruals and other payables
Bonus payable (Note)

Note:

FERTE A K E M e 5R0R

e 822 (KFE)

In January 2019, approximately HK$4,717,000 of bonus payable are re-designated as
employees’ loan advances to the Company. These employees’ loan advances shall be
repayable by January 2020 and carry interest with reference to the Group’s lending rate from a

bank in the Mainland China.

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of

recognition.

The ageing of the trade payables, based on invoice date, was as

follows:

Within 30 days
31-60 days
61-90 days
Over 90 days

30H A

31-60H
61-90H
###B90H

Trade and other payables were denominated in the following

currencies:

HK$
RMB
US$

BT
AR
e

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximated their

fair values due to their short term nature.

/] 86 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 2R G R 7

17,116
9,434

64,759

Wi

2017
—E—tF
HK$’000
THET

39,550
1,004
19,284

59,838

RZZB—NF—RH £4,717,0008 T2 B HSENIEER
BEAARARRUNENR ZEEBNRFAN_ZT_FF
—ARE WSRAKERE —HhBEAERITHORERA X

itee

BHRNFAREER BE

AT

MR IZ30H

BHRNFIARERAPZIREWAT :

2018
—E—-N\F
HK$’000
FHET

15,960
17,151
4,030
1,068

38,209

2017
T —tF
HK$’000
FHET

23,063
14,000
1,369
1,118

39,550

BHREMBENRIBTIATIERESIE:

2018
—F-N\EF
HK$’000
FHET

15,237
49,083
439

64,759

2017
—E—+tF
HK$’'000
FHBT

2,683
54,437
2,818

59,838

B 5 RAMENFARBRE LD - HERE

BEEALERE-
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25 BORROWING 25
Current mE
Bank loan - secured RITER—-BEA

The bank loan was repayable within one year. The weighted average
interest rate during the year ended 31 December 2018 was 7.2%
(2017: 7.5%). As at 31 December 2018, the borrowing was secured
by the certain buildings and land use right with carrying amounts of
HK$28,359,000 (2017: HK$23,441,000) (Note 14) and HK$5,367,000
(2017: HK$5,799,000) (Note 17) respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has available unutilised banking
facility of approximately HK$5,682,000 (2017: HK$5,952,000).

The carrying amount of the borrowing at 31 December 2018 was
denominated in RMB and approximated to its fair value (2017: same).

26 SHARE CAPITAL 26

2018
—T-0\F
Number

of shares
K388
(Thousands)
(Fh%)

Ordinary shares Tk
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—HBER+Z-HA=+—H 818,042

=§ A
2018 2017
—E-N\#E —T—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
5,682 5,952

BITEREN—FAEBE-HE=_ZF—N
F+ZA=+—HLEE MEFHA=E
BT2% (ZE—+tF:75%) RNR_FT—+
F+_A=+—B BEXHBINUIREEAS
28,359,000/ 7T ( —ZZF — -+ : 23,441,000/
7t) (Mis¥14) 2 315 & F &5,367,000% T
—E— 4 :5,799,0008 ) (MF17) 2z
T AR

R-ZE—NFE+-_A=+—B KEBHET
FHRIT R E 58495,682,0008 L (=T —+
£ 15,952,000 7T ) °

RZZE—NF+_A=+—H8 BERZIKEE
BENDUARENEREAEAABRE (ZF
—tFHERA) -
[ S
2017 2018 2017
—T—+F —E-N\f —E—tF
Number
of shares Share capital Share capital
fRin &R [ZS (&N
(Thousands) HK$’000 HK$'000
(F8&) FERT FET
818,042 81,804 81,804
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27 OTHER RESERVES 27 Hivfkim
Fixed
Exchange assets
Share translation revaluation Merger
premium reserve reserve reserve Total
BE&E
R 153 i B B i EfRE Bt RE @zt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FERT FHER TFET FHERT
As at 1 January 2017 RZZE—t5—HA—H 217,761 (36,260) 21,884 (200) 203,185
Other comprehensive income Hip 2EKRA
Revaluation gain, net of tax EhlaE MKRHIE - - 3,072 = 3,072

Currency translation differences  # & /& SN B A &)
arising on the translation of MERREECZELZSE
the financial statements of

overseas subsidiaries - 1,135 - - 1,135
Total other comprehensive Hip2EIRA LT

income - 1,135 3,072 — 4,207
At 31 December 2017 R-E—+&+=-A=+-A 217,761 (35,125) 24,956 (200) 207,392
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\F—A—H 217,761 (35,125) 24,956 (200) 207,392
Other comprehensive income Ht2HEKA
Revaluation gain, net of tax Bt MEEHRE - - 10,505 - 10,505

Currency translation differences  # & /5 M B A A
arising on the translation of MERREEZELER
the financial statements of

overseas subsidiaries - (1,580) - - (1,580)
Total other comprehensive Hip 2R A LT

income - (1,580) 10,505 - 8,925
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+=ZA=+—H 217,761 (36,705) 35,461 (200) 216,317
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28 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 28 ZEHRERERMEE
STATEMENT

Reconciliation of loss before income tax to net cash generated from/ BRETERAIBRECEEELE(FMA)Z2RE
(used in) operations is as follows: FRE IR ¢
2018 2017
—E-N\FE e
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Loss before income tax BMRATSRRTEE (50,615) (29,956)
Depreciation of properties, M- BEREZETE
plant and equipment 5,986 4,815
Losses on disposals of properties, HEME BELKXHBZER
plant and equipment 576 104
Gain on disposal of a land use right HE T ARz s - (3,685)
Amortisation of land use rights b {55 PR R 8 253 309
Share of result of an associate DiE— B E R EZEIE 26,065 5,723
Share of result of a joint venture NME—HEERECER - 5,331
Impairment on investment in a joint venture R—EEELEZKRERE - 15,647
Impairment on loans to an associate MEFHEBECEEITRE 5,445 =
Finance income BE WA (394) (44)
Finance expense RE R 818 175
(11,866) (1,581)
Changes in working capital: EELESEH:
Inventories 58 (9,569) (25,133)
Trade and other receivables é%&ﬁfﬁﬁ%”&?&lﬁ 17,582 (26,748)
Trade and other payables B REMEMNKIE 5,925 30,388
Financial assets at fair value ZRREFTABRIEZ
through profit or loss ERMEE 1,181 104,724
Net cash generated from operations KEEEA RS FRE 3,253 81,650
In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds from sale of RiFEREeRERA HEWE  BEREE
properties, plant and equipment comprise: B
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Net book amount (Note 14) WREDFE (FTFE14) 580 121
Losses on disposal of properties, LHEME BERRB2EBE
plant and equipment (576) (104)
Proceeds from disposal of properties, LEME  BEREZBTERIE
plant and equipment 4 17
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28 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 28 ZFRAANERMEE (8)
STATEMENT (Continued)

In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceed from disposal of a RERERESTERA - HE L FREMERK
land use right comprise: BEE:
2018 2017
—E—-N\F —T—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Net book amount (Note 17) WREHE (MaE17) - 3,384
Gain on disposal of a land use right B TR A 2 s - 3,685
Proceed from disposal of a land use right W& R AR AT S IR - 7,069
Net debt reconciliation: RETERE
This section sets out the reconciliation of liability from financing REHEFMERNSFEREETDELEZE
activities for each of the years presented. ERAEER -
Borrowing
=N
HK$’000
FHET
As at 1 January 2017 RZT—tF—HA—H =
Proceed from bank borrowing RITE RS RIE 5,952
As at 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 RZE—+tF+_A=+—RAKZE—N\F—HA—H 5,952
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITERMBIE 17,857
Repayments of bank borrowings iR ﬂ%m@%ﬂ (17,857)
Exchange difference &R ZE%8 (270)
As at 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\FE+=ZA=+—H 5,682
29 COMMITMENTS 29 HxiE
Capital Commitments BAREE
Capital commitments at the balance sheet date but not yet incurred as REEBBRMREEZERNAENDT
follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\FE —ET—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Properties, plant and equipment W BB R - 3,491
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29 COMMITMENTS (Continued)

30

Commitments under operating leases

The Group had future aggregate minimum lease payments for buildings
and motor vehicles under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

Not later than one year

Later than one year and not later than five years

SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December

2018:

Name of entity
bEEE
Shares held directly:

HEHARS:

Topwell Group Development
Ltd.

Shares held indirectly:
BEFERG

Carry Wealth Limited

AR A A

Dragon Insight Investments
Limited
BHREFRAF

Hillwealth International
Limited
FEnBEBRAERQA

29 #%iE (48)

—FR

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity
& M X 3L 3 Bh R
ERERER

British Virgin Islands,
limited liability company
RBREAHES BERAH

Hong Kong,
limited liability company

B BRQA

Hong Kong,
limited liability company

EE BRAA

Hong Kong,
limited liability company
% ARAH

—FREMERLOF

EREBETAHEEEHEEM AR KK

ZINS
BFRABIMNZKEEEFRLREAT:

2018 2017
—E-)\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FAT
952 2,779

= 740

952 3,519

30 B AT

ARAR-F—\F+-A=+—HZEE

MEBARIT :

Principal

activities and place
of operation
TEEBR
mEmE

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
REBETREER

Provision of management
services and investment
holding in Hong Kong

REBRHEER RSB K
REER

Securities trading in

Hong Kong
REBETESFRS

Garment trading and
marketing in Hong Kong

REBETRKE S K
miGHE

Particulars of
issued share capital

Percentage of
interest held %

ERTRAEH FiFESE S

1,000 ordinary shares of 100
US$1 each
1,000 R BREE 1ET2

4,000,000 ordinary 100
shares

4,000,000/ 2 & i@ AR

1 ordinary share 100
ik 2 Liamk
1 ordinary share 100

182 EB R

147
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30 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity

Principal

Name of entity of operation

30 MBAE (&)

activities and place

& 1 B 3L Bh R TEXBR

bEEH HERERER EEE

Mass Wealth Investments Hong Kong, Investment holding in

Limited limited liability company Hong Kong
HERERRRA EA BRAA REBETREER
Win Sonic Investments Limited Hong Kong, Inactive
limited liability company
KEREBRAT ER BRAT AR

BLEZFRRERRA
(Heshan Carry Wealth
Garment Limited)

PRC,
limited liability company

Manufacture of knit

China
REARLME ARAF

B8 ORI EHN
BRAF
(Heng Feng (Shenzhen)
Investment Consulting
Company Limited*)

PRC,
limited liability company
China

HEARAAME  BRAT
*  For identification purpose

Cash and short-term deposits held in Asian countries (including
Mainland China) are subject to local exchange control regulations.
These regulations provide for restrictions on exporting capital from
those countries, other than through normal dividends.

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, 404,944,690 shares (49.50%)
of the Company were held by Dragon Peace Limited, which is
ultimately owned by Mr. Li Haifeng, a director of the Company. The
directors consider Dragon Peace Limited, a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands, to be the Company’s ultimate holding
company.

(b)

Key management compensation

Key management of the Group comprises the executive directors
of the Group.

Salaries and other short-term
employee benefits

Contributions to the MPF Scheme BB FT B

142

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1E 1R AR X T

products in Mainland
A AR B K B A FE B A R 3

Provision of consultation
service in Mainland

AR B K B B2 4 R AR S

31

R EMEHEERA

Particulars of
issued share capital

Percentage of
interest held %

ERTREAER FisEGE D
1 ordinary share 100
12 ¥Rk

1 ordinary share 100
1Rz LB

US$14,700,000 100
14,700,000% 7T

RMB5,000,000 100

5,000,000 A R #
EREE

TNBER (BETERE)BSEZRE MEH
TFRE B HIMNEE IR TE PR B o ELARER
B TREBLEREHER A RBIERRK

g
FHELXS

RZE-NFRZZFE—tF+=A
=+—H' A 7RAF404,944,6908% i 17
(49.50%) 1 Dragon Peace Limited# 4 -
AABEEFEMEERKEBZ AR
EER A Dragon Peace Limited (725
BREZESHMKIZBRAR) AR

Bl IR E] o

(@

TEEBAEMSE

FEETZEBABRAEENTES
K-

2018 2017
—E-N\#E —T—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
2,562 4,661

33 36

2,595 4,697
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32 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF

32 AAFBERRRAHEEET

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 F#ET FAT
ASSETS &AE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Plant and equipment = K & 44 99
Investment in a subsidiary R—ENBRARZEE - =
Amount due from a subsidiary —MFEMB R RIRK 159,210 200,345
159,254 200,444
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H b e W R IE 1,338 1,614
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEEHEE 1,094 1,252
2,432 2,866
Total assets HEE 161,686 203,310
EQUITY i
Capital and reserves HAEATEZBAEAEEZ
attributable to the BARGHE
Company’s equity holders
Share capital % AR 81,804 81,804
Other reserves H th & a 365,455 365,455
Accumulated losses RETEE a (286,505) (244,815)
Total equity RS 160,754 202,444
LIABILITIES BfE
Current liabilities RBERE
Other payables and accruals HEfEARIAKREER 932 866
Total liabilities BAatE 932 866
Total equity and liabilities HESREE 161,686 203,310
Li Haifeng Wang Ke
FigiE £ )
Chairman Executive Director
E HITEE
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32 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF RNEKATEEEBEBRRBEES

THE COMPANY (Continued) &)
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (a) RATHEEES
Share  Contributed Other Accumulated
premium surplus (i) reserves total losses
BRiEE HAERE () HibREESH RetisE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERL TET TET TER
Balance at 1 January 2017 W-Z—+F—F—BiH 217,761 147,694 365,455 (219,066)
Loss and total other comprehensive &8 & F & H it
loss for the year 2HEEAE - - - (25,749)
Balance at 31 December 2017 RZZE—tF
+-A=+—B&4% 217,761 147,694 365,455 (044,815)
Balance at 1 January 2018 R-ZE-NE—F—B#&#H 217,761 147,694 365,455 (244,815)
Loss and total other comprehensive 18 M EE H i
loss for the year THEERE - - - (41,690)
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZZE—NEF
+-A=+—H#&#% 217,761 147,694 365,455 (286,505)
Note: B 5
(i)  The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the ()  ARABZBARBRTIERBEAZNE QR 24
consolidated shareholders’ funds of a subsidiary acquired and the nominal value of ARFRECHAARARAEILRMBEITRG ZE
the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor. BZZERE-
33 EVENTS AFTER THE END OF REPORTING PERIOD 33 BEHNERESH
(a) Loans to an associate (a) MEBELEREER
During January 2019, the Group has approved two loans to Exellar RZZ—NF—AHE AEBEEMER
amounting US$161,000 (equivalent to HK$1,246,000). These HEMEERELEA161,000E T (HE
loans are unsecured, bear interest at 10% per annum and are 1,246,000/ L) - ILERAEER  F
repayable within one year. MEHB10% - WHE—FANEE -
(b) Litigation case (b) EFEAEMH
On 22 March 2019, a minority shareholder of Exellar filed a civil ZT-NFZRZ+ZH ERZLER
action in Hong Kong against Carry Wealth Limited (“CWL") for loss RETEEMARAR ([ ]) EBBIR
and claimed that CWL has misrepresented and delayed capital BREFD  BREERTTRMEERR
injection to Exellar, which caused loss and restricted Exellar's MEREERRAASBREIABRNMERERZN
business development. The litigation is still in progress as at the BRWRH TEEGERE BEREES
report signing date. B FRDEEITR
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CARRY WEALTH HOLDINGS LIMITED

EEERFRAT

Suite 2001, 20/F,, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BBEBEE6-8HIHTH1201£2001F

Tel E7%:(852) 23108180  Fax {ZE : (852) 2310 8797

Website #831 : www.carrywealth.com
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